
Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764626 
e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - CABINET

Date & Time - Tuesday, 11 September 2018 at 10.00 am

Venue - Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Cabinet:

Councillors: The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader), C N Worth (Deputy Leader), 
M G Chandler (Deputy Leader), T A Carter, A Casson, P E Coupland, R Gambba-Jones, 
C N Johnson, C J Lawton and G J Taylor. 

No substitutions permitted. Quorum 4.

Note: Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels.  They 
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current 
committee cycle.  

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to 

silent mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   3 September 2018

Public Document Pack

Page 1



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes 

a)   Cabinet minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the 
meeting of the Cabinet held on 10 July 2018 (copy enclosed).
  

(Pages 
5 - 12)

b)   Priory Road Community Hub Project Sub-Committee - To receive 
the minutes of the meeting of the Priory Road Community Hub 
Project Sub Committee held on 25 July 2018 (copy enclosed).

(Pages 
13 - 20)

3. Declarations of Interest. - (Where a Councillor has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest the Councillor must declare the interest to the 
meeting and leave the room without participating in any discussion or 
making a statement on the item, except where a Councillor is permitted 
to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation.)

4. Questions raised by the public under the Council's Constitution 
(Standing Orders).
 

5. To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in.
 

6. To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules.
 

7. LEP review - To review benefits of membership of GLLEP and 
Combined Authority (report of the Portfolio Holder Growth and 
Commercialisation and the Executive Director Commercialisation 
(S151)).

(To 
Follow)

8. Local Council Tax Support Scheme - 2019/20 (pre-consultation) - To 
update the Cabinet on the performance of the current Council Tax 
Support scheme, and to seek approval to consult on proposals for 
2019/20 (report of the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) 
enclosed).

(Pages 
21 - 26)

9. Amendment to the Capital Programme - To seek the approval and 
release of capital and revenue funding and consequent amendment of 
the capital programme (report of the Portfolio Holder Public Protection 
enclosed).

(Pages 
27 - 34)

10. Q1 Finance Report 2018-19 - To provide information on Quarter 1 (to 30 
June 2018) and forecast full year financial position at the Council (report 
of the Portfolio Holder Finance and the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151) enclosed).

(Pages 
35 - 54)

11. Quarter 1 2018-19 Performance Overview Report - To provide an 
update on Council performance for the period 1 April 2018 to 30 June 

(Pages 
55 - 84)

Page 2



2018 (report of the Executive Director, Strategy and Governance 
enclosed).

12. Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. - 

Note: (i) No other business is permitted unless by reason of 
special circumstances, which shall be specified in the 
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

(ii) Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must 
be dealt with in accordance with the Constitution’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules.

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



- 6 -

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 10 July 2018 at 10.00 am.

PRESENT

G A Porter (Leader)
M G Chandler (Deputy Leader)

A Casson
T A Carter

P E Coupland
C N Johnson

C J Lawton
G J Taylor

The Executive Director Strategy and Governance, the Executive Manager 
Governance, the Executive Manager Property and Development, the Executive 
Manager Growth, the Acting Inward Investment Manager, the Senior Business 
Intelligence Officer and the Lead Democratic Services Officer. 

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors C N Worth and 
R Gambba-Jones, together with the Chief Executive. 

In Attendance:  Councillor B Alcock (Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel), 
Councillor G R Aley (Chairman, Governance and Audit Committee) and Councillor 
A M Newton (Independent Group Leader).

Community Representatives:  Citizens Advice Bureau and Parish Councils. 

Action By
12. MINUTES 

The Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 29 May 2018 were 
signed by the Leader as a correct record.

The Cabinet also received the minutes of the meeting of the 
Priory Road Community Hub Project Sub-Committee held on 29 
May 2018.

13. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST. 

There were no declarations of interest.

14. QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER THE 
COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (STANDING ORDERS). 

No questions were raised under the Council’s Constitution 
(Standing Orders).

15. TO CONSIDER ANY MATTERS WHICH HAVE BEEN SUBJECT 
TO CALL-IN. 

There were no matters subject to call-in.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.a)



- 7 -

CABINET - 10 July 2018

16. TO CONSIDER MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANELS 

There were no matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels.

17. LOCAL ENERGY EAST STRATEGY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Growth and Commercialisation which invited formal endorsement 
for the Local Energy East Strategy.

Councillors noted that South Holland District Council had been 
invited by the Cambridge and Peterborough Combined Authority 
to give formal consideration to the Local Energy East Strategy 
document; a draft strategy that had been produced to support 
both local and regional energy issues that are prohibiting growth 
in the areas covered by the New Anglia LEP, the Cambridge and 
Peterborough Combined Authority and Hertfordshire LEPs.

The purpose of the strategy was to capture and set out activities 
designed to unblock current challenges concerning energy, 
alongside activities to capitalise on local energy generation, 
storage, distribution and supply opportunities. It had been funded 
by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 
(BEIS). 

All local authorities within the geography covered by the study 
were being asked to provide feedback on the draft strategy, and 
also to consider providing formal endorsement to the draft 
strategy and its stated aims. All public sector organisations that 
endorse the strategy will be referenced within the final published 
document as a supporting partner. 

In discussing the strategy, Councillors noted that it promoted all 
forms of electricity production.  There would be times when, for 
planning reasons, this would not be the Council’s view.  It was 
agreed that feedback should be given to the Cambridge and 
Peterborough Combined Authority that the Council supports the 
strategy but with the caveat that all forms of electricity production 
were promoted ‘where appropriate’.

It was also noted that South Holland was not referred to very 
frequently in the strategy despite being an equal partner.  It was 
hoped that endorsing the strategy would bring a greater 
recognition of the Council’s role.  Feedback on this issue would 
be included in the Council’s response.

Overall Councillors endorsed the strategy, and its stated aims, as 

NB 

Page 6



- 8 -

CABINET - 10 July 2018

it aligned with the authority’s own priorities relating to housing and 
economic growth, along with focusing on addressing issues that 
impact upon the growth, including power generation and 
distribution.

DECISION:

That the Cabinet gives formal endorsement of the Local Energy 
East Strategy subject to:

a) The caveat that, with regard to the promotion of all forms of 
electricity, the Council would like to add ‘where appropriate’ so 
that it was not obliged to support inappropriate development; 
and

b) Feedback be sent regarding acknowledging South Holland to 
a greater extent.

(Other options considered:
 Do nothing. Under this option, the authority will not provide 

formal support for the strategy. 

Reasons for decision: 
 The Local Energy East Strategy is focused around a 

number of matters of relevance to the council’s own 
strategic priorities, notably concerning housing and 
economic growth, alongside the focus within the strategy in 
addressing issues that impact upon the growth, including 
power generation and distribution.)

18. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION POLICY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Governance and Customer inviting the Cabinet to adopt the 
Council’s revised Freedom of Information Policy.

Councillors noted that the current Freedom of Information Policy 
was originally adopted in June 2014. There were no fundamental 
changes proposed to the policy as it was aligned with the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000 which has seen no major 
updates in the years since the previous policy was written.  
However, in consultation with the Chairman and Vice-chairman of 
the Policy Development Panel, some formatting changes had 
been made in order to produce a policy that was written in plain 
English and reduced in size whilst retaining all the necessary 
information.

DECISION:

That the Cabinet adopts the Freedom of Information Policy.

CP 

Page 7



- 9 -

CABINET - 10 July 2018

(Other options considered:
 Do nothing.

Reason for decision:
 The currently adopted policy is 4 years old and due a 

review. Whilst there have not been any fundamental 
changes to statutory requirements, the new policy is 
improved for the benefit of the people wishing to contact 
the Council regarding freedom of information.)

19. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY POLICY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Governance and Customer inviting adoption of the Council’s 
revised Equality and Diversity Policy.

The current Equality and Diversity Policy was originally adopted in 
January 2014. 

As with the Freedom of Information policy, there were no 
fundamental changes to the policy as it was aligned with the 
Equality Act 2010 which has seen no major updates in the years 
since the previous policy was written. However, in consultation 
with the Chairman and Vice-chairman of the Policy Development 
Panel, some changes had been made to the format of the policy. 
These had been made in order to produce a policy that was 
written in plain English and reduced in size. 

DECISION:

That the Cabinet approves the adoption of the Equality and 
Diversity Policy.

(Other options considered:
 Do nothing.

Reasons for decision:
 The currently adopted policy is 4 years old and due a 

review. Whilst there have not been any fundamental 
changes to statutory requirements, the new policy is 
improved for the benefit of all those engaging with the 
Council.)

CP 

20. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE LEADER DECIDES ARE 
URGENT. 

There were no urgent items.

Page 8



- 10 -

CABINET - 10 July 2018

21. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

DECISION:

That, under section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 3 and 4 of part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act.

22. EXEMPT MINUTE OF THE MEETING OF THE PRIORY ROAD 
COMMUNITY HUB PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE HELD ON 29 
MAY 2018 

The exempt minute of the meeting of the Priory Road Community 
Hub Project Sub-Committee held on 29 May 2018 was received 
as a correct record.

23. REPORT TO CABINET OF THE PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY 
HUB PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager – 
Property and Development concerning the capital funding for the 
investment into the Council Offices at Priory Road.

Councillors noted that Priory Road council offices comprise of 2 
buildings. The older 2 storey building, referred to in the report as 
block 4, constructed in1954 in a traditional Georgian style and the 
more modern main office and public areas opened in 1991. 

As is often the case with buildings of this age, and a number of 
original features including heating and cooling systems, the atrium 
could be cold in the winter and hot in the summer. In winter this 
was exacerbated by having multiple ground floor level staff/public 
accesses with inefficient heat curtains failing to prevent cold air 
accessing the building and warm air escaping when opened. 

Councillors considered that improving the working conditions for 
Council staff, the Council’s tenants and visitors to Priory Road 
required investment. It was acknowledged that in addition to 
installation there would be ongoing maintenance costs.  These 
cost could make up part of the service charge for using the 
building where appropriate.  Future thermal modelling would take 
place in the atrium to identify options to manage seasonal 
temperature regulation better.

DECISION:

a) Agree the principle that access arrangements in and around 

RH 

Page 9



- 11 -

CABINET - 10 July 2018

the Priory Road building will assume that:

 Car park barrier, door access, staircase barrier (a new 
installation) and printer access will be by virtue of a 
single/linked system with a customisable capability for 
controlling access and zoning flexibility throughout the 
Priory Road office building.

 All registered users will have a photographic printed ID 
card which will act as the activator for proximity sensors 
throughout the zoned areas of the building.  Users will 
access zoned areas based on their required permissions.

b) Agree the new door heating arrangements which will install a 
like for like system with additional/replacement heating units 
serving the reception desk and public seating area, to reduce 
the need for ad hoc heating and cooling solutions.

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL:

c) To authorise the release of budget, as set out in the report, 
from the Council’s Growth and Investment Reserve.  Subject 
to Council approval a tender process to commence for the 3 
items – atrium door heating and ancillary areas, staircase 
access barrier and installation of electronic door access 
system as appropriate to deliver enhanced and more flexible 
access control to office areas, external doors and car park.

(Other options considered:
Door and Staircase Access Control:

 A security guard or guards to patrol the ground floor and 
control access

 Keypad access with different codes for different areas with 
a new staircase barrier system.

 Do nothing

Heating:
 Do nothing

Reasons for decision: 
Door access including staircase access control:

 Only the recommended option will meet the needs of the 
building  and cater for zoning to support co-locations.

Heating:
 Doing nothing would not address any of the current issues 

and would incur ongoing costs both in terms of 
maintenance and running of the existing units whilst not 
addressing the underlying issues.) 

Page 10



- 12 -

CABINET - 10 July 2018

(The meeting ended at 10.30 am)

(End of minutes)

These minutes are published on 13 July 2018.  In accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution the DECISIONS detailed above will, unless otherwise stated, come into 
force and may then be implemented on 23 July 2018 (i.e. after the expiry of 5 clear 
working days from the date of publication of these minutes), unless during
that period a notice which is signed by either a Ward Representative (in relation to a 
matter in their ward) or two members of the Performance Monitoring Panel or any 
three members, and complies with the requirements of the Council’s Constitution is 
served on the Executive Manager Governance requesting that the decision be called-
in and the Executive Manager Governance approves the request for call-in.  Where a 
decision is called-in it will firstly be considered by the Performance Monitoring Panel 
on a date to be fixed.

Any FINAL DECISIONS and any URGENT DECISIONS take effect immediately.

Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for 
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on 12 September 2018.

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Minutes of a meeting of the PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB PROJECT SUB-
COMMITTEE held in the Meeting Room 2, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on 
Wednesday, 25 July 2018 at 2.00 pm.

PRESENT

M G Chandler (Chairman)

G J Taylor C N Worth (Vice-Chairman)  

 

In Attendance:  Executive Manager Property and Development, Programme Delivery
Manager Breckland and South Holland, Technical Project Manager – Breckland, 
Facilities Management Officer and Democratic Services Officer. 

Action By
7 MINUTES 

Councillors enquired as to the status of the discussion with the 
project consultants over a small amount of additional work 
undertaken relating to the DWP fit out. Officers responded that 
this was still being discussed but was likely to be a reasonable 
additional fee claim (in the order of £3k). Councillors asked 
officers to update the Executive Director - Commercialisation on 
the progress of this and brief the Sub-Committee on progress at 
the next meeting, but were supportive of Officers settling this 
additional invoice.

Councillors requested an update on the access control security 
system project and how the security system (pagers) worked. The 
Technical Project Manager stated that there was a linked alarm 
system but options to extend this were being considered. 
Proposals for and upgrade of this to be reported back to the next 
Sub Committee including an extension to cover more meeting 
rooms where appropriate. 
 
Members requested an update on additional works to the air 
conditioning fan unit outside the building (within the timber 
enclosure). Officers advised that they had identified a simple 
solution for reducing the fan noise within office areas adjacent 
and works would be undertaken in advance of the next Sub-
Committee meeting.   

AGREED:

The minutes of the meeting of the Priory Road Community Hub 
Project Sub-Committee held on 29 May 2018 were agreed as a 
correct record. 

Richard 
Hodgson, 
Jenny 
Stephens 

Richard 
Hodgson 

Page 13

Agenda Item 2.b)



- 2 -

PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB 
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 25 July 2018

8 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were none. 

9 CABINET 10 JULY 2018 

It was noted that the report recommending an upgrade to the 
existing door access system and ground floor atrium heating was 
welcomed and was approved by Cabinet. It would now pass for a 
decision to allocate the necessary funding at the meeting of full 
council in September 2018. 

AGREED:

a) That the information presented in the update be noted. 

10 UPDATE ON DESIGN PROPOSALS, PROPOSED 
PROCUREMENT ROUTE AND PROGRAMME OPTIONS: 

Officers advised that following agreement at Cabinet on the 
proposed ground floor atrium heating and door access solutions 
further and more detailed design work had been carried out. 
Three quotes had been obtained, so officers were developing a 
procurement strategy in the knowledge of these quotations and 
would update the Sub- Committee at its next meeting on 
progress. The Sub Committee confirmed that they were content 
that the door access system and staircase control could be dealt 
with utilising urgency powers to bring forward the install date and 
hence the date for these to be in and operating.  

It was stated that the replacement of existing door curtains which 
were now at the end of their life cycle, would be more efficient as 
existing installations and therefore presented an opportunity for 
reduced operating cost in the longer term. The new positioning 
and flexibility of the new door curtains and wall mounted heaters 
in the atrium/ reception areas would also provide a better 
environment for customers and staff in these areas and therefore 
helping maximise the use and utilisation of these open areas. 
These works would be procured in the usual way of tender and 
not adopting urgency notwithstanding officers had undertaken 
some soft market testing. 

Door Access Control:

Officers stated that areas of the building would be zoned and 
doors restricted by card access. The proposals included Members 
areas and Committee suites including the Chamber as well as 
office areas.

Page 14



- 3 -

PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB 
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 25 July 2018

Members enquired whether there would be a mixture of access 
solutions/systems. Officers stated that there would be one access 
control system, with either a card reader or a simple push button 
mechanism to enable movement around the building depending 
on whether you were moving from a public space into a secure 
area ( car reader) or secure area out into a more public/circulation  
area  (predominantly push button) 

The new system was going to be a ‘PAXTON II’ System which 
had a standard allowance for up to 1,000 users. SHDC would 
manage the database of users, with CPBS being responsible for 
the software. In addition SHDC would be responsible for printing 
of the cards which would allow access.

It was noted that the system would also be used to control the 
access barrier to main car park, main vestibule doors, the lift and 
printers/photocopiers.

Members stated that they felt that those responsible for security 
should have the main input in determining what security systems 
were introduced. Officers confirmed that a small including Assets 
and Facilities Management colleagues were working closely on 
this project. 

Members mentioned that at the time of the meeting there was a 
range of different types of ID cards issued and asked how this 
would work with the new system. Officers responded that it was 
planned that all Members and staff would be issued with new 
cards to replace existing cards so that everyone (Members, 
partners in occupation and Officers) are issued with a card. This 
would cover all staff working at Priory Road, including for CPBS, 
DWP and CAB as well as those other SHDC staff who require 
access to Priory Road. It was noted the system was capable of 
being expanded to cover other buildings than just Priory Road if 
this were needed.

Members asked how visitor cards would work. It was stated that 
there was no need for visitors cards as all visitors would be 
required to be escorted by officers who had invited them starting 
by meeting and greeting visitors at reception. The operating 
arrangements for contractor’s working at Priory Road, such as 
was under review including the need for a limited number of 
contractor access cards.

Members asked how ‘tailgating’ through doors would be 
prevented. Officers responded that there was an expectation that 
staff would challenge all in the building who were not wearing an 

Page 15



- 4 -

PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB 
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 25 July 2018

ID badge and this would be reinforced by frequent 
communications as necessary. 

Sub Committee agreed that the two side access doors to the 
Council would also become staff entrances solely, with public 
access now being directed to solely the main entrance to the 
building, allowing a more controlled approach to how public 
entered into the building. Officers would work with the Sub 
Committee members to ensure the timing for this being 
implemented and communications are fully understood and 
agreed. Officers asked Members on the Sub-Committee for their 
support in encouraging all Members to wear their ID cards and 
also to be expected to be challenged if they didn’t. This was 
agreed. 

It was noted that for public meetings, the public would have to be 
let in and out via the front door and escorted to the chamber as 
required. This was similarly agreed by the Sub Committee as a 
good workable solution.

Officers restated that there would not be card readers on the 
inside of all doors as this would add unnecessary additional cost 
to the project and the push button release mechanism was typical 
and sufficient. 

Members stated that all staff access and egress at Priory Road 
should be through the three main entrances off the atrium. This 
was agreed and would be reinforced through communications 
with staff and Priory Road tenants except of course in the event of 
evacuation. 

The Facilities Management Officer left the room at 15:05

Members also asked that in communications with staff around the 
introduction of the uprated access system, the opportunity to 
reinforce the benefits of promoting a clear desk policy be taken. 

Atrium Stair barriers:

The Technical Project Manager - Breckland stated that the same 
contractor fitting the new door systems is likely to fit the atrium 
stair barriers too although this had yet to be determined.

The Technical Project Manager - Breckland provided examples of 
glass gate solutions and glazed/steel handrails around. Whilst 
powder coated solutions would provide similar functionality 
Members stated that they felt it would be worth the small 
additional cost to get the stainless steel model to match the 

Richard 
Hodgson, 
Jenny 
Stephens 

Jenny 
Stephens 

Page 16



- 5 -

PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB 
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 25 July 2018

existing staircase handrails, as per the Officers recommendation. 
This was agreed.

Timings:

The Sub Committee noted the programme outlined to them by 
Officers and based on a waiver of Contract Standing Orders the 
programme for works to be undertaken and completed including 
contractor lead in times for equipment.

Members stated that they wanted the staircase works done where 
possible first. Officers noted and would liaise with the appointed 
contractor pre and post contract award on programme and 
sequencing.

AGREED:

a) That the current proposals for door control systems be 
agreed as satisfactory

b) That the Technical Project Manager - Breckland be given 
authority to find and cost a barrier for the Atrium staircase. 

Richard 
Hodgson, 
Jenny 
Stephens 

11 SUMMARY OF CURRENT PLANNED MAINTENANCE AND 
CAPITAL WORKS AT PRIORY ROAD 

The Executive Manager – Property and Development provided an 
update.

The key activities on maintenance/upgrades were boiler 
maintenance, toilet replacement and refurbishment (including in 
CPBS area), kitchen areas, drainage, removal of pond and 
thermal modelling.

Members asked if a system could be added into the atrium glass 
roof which would stop it from creating high levels of heat. Officers 
stated that they had been investigating this, and that they are 
looking into an improved venting solution and/or an alternative 
solar film coating.

Members stated that they felt a good outcome of this committee 
would be a 5 year programme of planned maintenance. Officers 
confirmed they had recently met as a group in advance of setting 
up a new Asset Management Board and this was one of the 
agreed outcomes from the work programme for Priory Road and 
that the Board would have oversight of going forward.

Page 17



- 6 -

PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB 
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 25 July 2018

Sub Committee noted that there had been issues previously with 
securing parts for the boilers when they required replacement and 
that investment in a new boiler might be needed and would 
present an opportunity to obtain a more efficient system. Officers 
confirmed they would update Sub Committee on any boiler issues 
at the next meeting.

The Facilities Management Officer re-entered the room at 15:33

AGREED:

a) That the information presented in the update be noted; and

b) That officers be tasked with finding a potential solution to 
levels of heat generated by the glass roof of the atrium. 

Katie 
Potter, 
Richard 
Hodgson 

Richard 
Hodgson, 
Jenny 
Stephens 

12 COLLOCATION UPDATE 

A discussion took place regarding potential other public and 
voluntary sector partners who might have an interest in 
collocating at Priory Road. Members asked to be kept updated via 
the Sub Committee meetings or outside as appropriate.  

Officers reconfirmed that quoting rents were consistent with 
guidance previously given to Officers by Sub Committee but each 
possible collocation would need to be assessed based on a range 
of factors to ensure that any interest is fully considered.

Members stated that they felt that the meeting rooms on the 
ground floor as well as the Members Area shouldn’t be ruled out 
as sites for temporary collocation offices if suitable alternative 
locations were available for these. Officers confirmed that a 
number of studies have and will continue to be undertaken in 
order to maximise the utilisation of Priory Road. Nothing should 
be ruled in or out to ensure the building is as flexible as possible 
and opportunities for appropriate collocations, where appropriate 
are captured.

Councillor Taylor left the room at 15:54

AGREED:

a) That the information presented in the update be noted; and

b) That officers continue to actively chase collocation 
opportunities presented by the Probation Service and 
report back to the next meeting. 

Jenny 
Stephens 

Page 18



- 7 -

PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB 
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 25 July 2018

13 AGENDA PLANNING FOR FUTURE ITEMS FOR THE SUB-
COMMITTEE 

In response to a request to start agenda planning forthcoming 
meetings, the Executive Manager – Property and Development 
stated he felt the committee would benefit from having access to 
core data such as building plans, running cost data, maintenance 
programmes and an understanding of budgets such as those 
available for planned maintenance in order to make reasoned and 
informed decisions. This would be added to the agenda planner, 
as appropriate for future discussion/awareness;

Members wanted Officers to draw up an action plan and provide 
relevant dates for topics to be discussed. Officers confirmed that 
this would be one of the work-streams of the Assets Board, 
generating items for discussion and approval by Sub- Committee.

AGREED:

a) That the update given regarding planning for future 
agendas be noted; and

b) That officers were to draw up an action plan with relevant 
dates for the sub-committee

 

Richard 
Hodgson 

14 DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

The Facilities Management Officer, Technical Project Manager - 
Breckland, and the Communications Team to be invited to the 
next meeting.

The next meeting was due to take place on 20 September 2018 

Gregory 
Watkinson, 
Democratic 
Services 

15 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

There was no need to exclude the press and public as the exempt 
item due to be discussed was settled under agenda item 2 without 
the need to exclude the press and public. 

16 EXEMPT MINUTE OF THE MEETING OF THE PRIORY ROAD 
COMMUNITY HUB PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE HELD ON 20 
MAY 2018 

There was no need to enter closed session as the exempt 
minutes of the previous meeting of the Priory Road Community 

Page 19



- 8 -

PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB 
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 25 July 2018

Hub Project Sub-Committee were discussed under Agenda Item 2 
without the need to exclude the press and public. 

(The meeting ended at 4.07 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 20



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director - Commercialisation (S151)

To: Cabinet Tuesday, 11 September 2018 

(Author: Sharon Hammond, Head of Service, Revenues and Benefits)

Subject Local Council Tax Support Scheme - 2019/20 (pre-consultation)

Purpose: For each financial year a billing authority must consider whether to revise its 
Council Tax Support scheme, or replace it with another scheme.  This report 
updates Cabinet on the performance of the current scheme and seeks 
approval to consult on proposals for 2019/20. 

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Cabinet approves a consultation for: - 

a) Continuation of the current Council Tax Support scheme, and uprating in line with DWP’s 
annual update of allowances and premiums for housing benefit for 2018/19, and 

b) The introduction of a new class for Care Leavers aged 18-21 years

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The local Council Tax Support (CTS) scheme replaced the former national Council Tax 
Benefit (CTB) scheme from April 2013.

1.2 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 sets out the process by which Councils must 
approve a local Council Tax Support scheme.  Regulations include protection for 
pensioners but allow Councils to make changes in the way that support is calculated for 
working age claimants.

1.3 War pensioners and War Widowers are protected within South Holland’s scheme.

1.4 Each year Councils are required to consider reviewing their local CTS scheme.  For years 
2014/15, 2015/16 and 2016/17 South Holland District Council’s scheme provided a 
maximum amount of 75% support for working age claimants.  Some changes were 
introduced from 2017/18: -

 The maximum level of support was reduced to 70%, meaning that all working age 
households receive less CTS in 2017/18, and are now required to pay at least 30% 
towards their council tax liability.

 The Second Adult Rebate was reduced to 20% in 2017/18 (with further reduction to 
10% in 2018/19 and nil from 2019/20).  This affects households where the claimant’s 
own income is too high to receive CTS, but there are other adult(s) living in the 
household whose combined income is low.

Page 21

Agenda Item 8.



 A minimum level of CTS at £5 per week was introduced.  Where the amount of CTS 
each week would be less than £5, no CTS is now awarded.  

 An increase in non-dependent deductions by 10% was implemented.  A non-
dependent is an adult living with a claimant but who is not dependent upon them, for 
example an adult son or daughter.  Non-dependents are now expected to contribute 
more towards the household’s Council Tax bill.

 Restricted CTS to Band D.  This means claimants living in dwellings that are banded E, 
F, G or H have their entitlement to CTS calculated at the level of Council Tax Band D.

 Reduced the Capital Limit to £8,000.  This means claimants with more than £8,000 in 
capital are no longer entitled to any CTS.

 Reduced the lower capital threshold to £3,000.  This lowered the amount that is 
disregarded in the calculation of CTS.

 Limited backdating to 1 month.  This change was in line with the changes made by 
DWP for Housing Benefit.   

 Removed family premium for new claims.  This change was in line with changes made 
by DWP for Housing Benefit.   

2.0 FUNDING THE COUNCIL TAX SCHEME

2.1 In 2013/14, the amount of Government grant available to meet the cost of any support was 
reduced by approximately 10% nationally, although at a local level this equated to an 
11.4% cut.  From 2014/15 the Government grant has been subsumed within the Revenues 
Support Grant (RSG), and is not separately identifiable. 

2.2 At 30 June 2018 the amount of CTS discount awarded for 2018/19 was £4,110,223. 
Caseload and expenditure will continue to fluctuate through the remainder of the financial 
year.  

The table below shows the profile of Council Tax Support caseload and expenditure at 30 
June 2018.  The cost to South Holland being approximately £431,573 (10.5%).

Total Caseload Percentage Amount of CTS

All Groups 5,363 £4,110,223

Elderly 3,099 57.8% £2,646,037

Working Age 2,264 42.2% £1,464,186

2.3 2018/19 is the sixth year of the local Council Tax Support scheme.  The following table 
compares in-year collection rates since introduction of the changes in 2013/14.  (2012/13 
in-year collection performance is also shown for information).  

Date Collectable Debit In-Year Collection Rate

2012/13 £35.4m 97.90%
2013/14 £36.7m 97.94%
2014/15 £37.8m 97.86%
2015/16 £39.1m 98.05%
2016/17 £41.1m 98.19%
2017/18 £43.3m 98.06%

Page 22



Current year collection to date remains broadly in line with recent years since the introduction 
of CTS, and there has been no significant effect on the in-year collection rate following the 
changes to the CTS scheme that were introduced in 2017/18.

2.4 Whilst in-year collection is better than anticipated there is £176,582 outstanding in 
summonsed arrears in respect of the five previous year’s council tax support cases.  
Recovery and collection continues beyond the end of the year in question, however the 
prospect of recovery reduces. Provision for bad debt has been made. 

2.5 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 and subsequent regulations granted billing 
authorities greater discretion over discounts and exemptions for certain categories of empty 
dwelling from 1st April 2013. 

Changes decided by Council in January 2013, were introduced from 1st April 2013, to 
increase the council tax base and potential revenue to help fill the funding gap arising from 
the cut to grant in respect of CTS.  

3 ESTABLISHING A COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME FOR 2019/20

3.1 For each financial year, the billing authority must consider whether to revise its scheme, or 
replace it with another scheme.  Council Tax Support schemes cannot be changed mid-year.

3.2 It was the intention to carry out a more fundamental review of the Council Tax Support 
scheme for 2019/20 taking into account the impacts of Universal Credit, however due to 
delays in the national roll-out programme there is presently insufficient information to inform 
such a review.

3.3 The majority of South Holland district is covered by the Spalding Jobcentre.  Under the 
revised timescales, Spalding Jobcentre has only been operating full Universal Credit service 
since 11th July. 

3.4 Whilst it is too early to understand the impact and effect of Universal Credit in South Holland, 
Housing Benefit caseload is anticipated to reduce during 2018/19, and there is likely to be an 
increase in the number of changes to be processed for Council Tax Support.  In turn, this will 
mean Council Tax bills will be reassessed, with instalments being re-profiled for future dates 
with possible impact on collection and recovery in these cases.

3.5 It is equally recognised that the inbuilt delay in claimants receiving their first Universal Credit 
payment might impact on the ability of households to manage their finances.  Consequently it 
is felt that to make changes to the current CTS scheme in 2019/20 could add further 
pressure on these households.  

3.6 South Holland District Council was one of the first Lincolnshire authority’s to introduce a 
discount for Care Leavers in 2018/19.  Presently this is administered under discretionary 
provisions, with the full cost borne by this Council.  It was suggested at the time of 
introduction that consideration would be given to bringing this into the Council Tax Support 
scheme for 2019/20 onwards.  In conjunction with Lincolnshire County Council and 
Barnado’s Leaving Care Service, potential applicants will be identified.  As at July 2018, 
there have been no applications yet.  Under the present discretionary arrangements, the full 
cost of any award would be met by South Holland DC.  If this scheme were to move into the 

Page 23



CTS scheme any cost would be shared by the major Precepting authorities, (with 
approximately 10.5% borne by South Holland).

3.7 The Local Government Finance Act requires that before a scheme can be adopted by the 
billing authority, it must (in the following order): -

(a) Consult any major precepting authority which has power to issue a precept to it,
(b) Publish a draft scheme in such manner as it thinks fit, and
(c) Consult such other persons as it considers are likely to have an interest in the 

operation of the scheme.

4. SCHEME OPTIONS FOR CONSULTATION

4.1 Option 1 

No change.

This option would see the current scheme retained for 2019/20, uprated in line with DWP 
information.

4.2 Option 2 – Recommended

Retain the current scheme and introduce a new class for Care Leavers aged 18-21 years. 

This option would see the current scheme retained for 2019/20, uprated in line with DWP 
information, and would provide a new class for up to 100% discount for care leavers aged 
18-21 years.

5 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

5.1 The recommended option for consultation would provide continuity for customers at a time 
when they might be experiencing change through the introduction of Universal Credit.  This 
option will also seek views on the proposal to introduce a new class for Care Leavers into the 
main Council Tax Support scheme.

5.2 This approach will continue to see South Holland’s scheme modelled on the previous 
national Council Tax Benefit scheme, keeping administration simple and broadly consistent 
with administration of Housing Benefit.  However with the implementation of Universal Credit 
in 2018/19, there will begin a reduction in working age Housing Benefit claimants over the 
next few years, and in turn a reduction in government funding.  It is therefore timely that 
whilst consulting on a proposal for no change to the Council Tax Support scheme for 
2019/20, that work begins on looking to develop a simplified scheme.

5.3 Exploratory work will begin in 2018/19 to consider various scheme options and approaches, 
with a view to recommendations coming to Cabinet early in 2019/20 followed by consultation 
and then final decision making to achieve implementation of a new, simplified scheme for 
introduction in 2020/21.

6 EXPECTED BENEFITS

Page 24



6.1 Continuity for Council Tax Support claimants through 2019/20, and the transfer of provision 
for Care Leaver discount into the main CTS scheme, with the full cost of any award being 
shared between major Precepting authorities.

7 IMPLICATIONS

7.1 Financial

7.1.1 Council Tax Support scheme costs in 2018/19 are forecast to be approximately 
£4,110,223, of which £431,000 (10.5%) would be borne by this Council.

7.2 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

7.2.1 Legislation requires consultation to be carried out with major Precepting authorities and the 
public where changes to the scheme are proposed.  This report seeks the approval of 
Cabinet to proceed with consultation based on the recommendation made.

8 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

8.1 All

9 ACRONYMS

9.1 DWP – Department for Work and Pensions
9.2 CTS – Council Tax Support

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Sharon Hammond, Head of Service, Revenues and Benefits
Telephone Number
Email: Sharon.hammond@cpbs.com

Key Decision: N 

Exempt Decision: N 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service Appendices attached to this report: 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Public Protection   

To: Cabinet - 11 September 2018;
Council – 12 September 2018.

Author: Richard Boole – Shared Environmental Protection Manager.

Subject: Amendment to the Capital Programme. 

Purpose: To seek the approval and release of capital & revenue funding and 
consequent amendment of the capital programme.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Cabinet recommend that funding totalling £178,000 be approved and released from 
reserves and that the 2018/19 capital programme be revised accordingly.

Recommend to FULL COUNCIL: 

2) That the recommendation of Cabinet to approve and release funding from reserves and that 
the capital programme be revised accordingly, be approved.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The current Public Protection back-office software, that supports the environmental health 
and licensing functions, is approaching end of contract.  It is now necessary to procure 
replacement software.

1.2   The procurement will be subject to a full tender process and it is anticipated that this will 
open up our business to the wider market and produce a range of software options that 
can be considered on their merits.

1.3 The cost of any new product will be shared across both Councils by way of a recharge to 
BDC for a proportion of both the initial capital and year-on-year revenue costs for the 
duration of the new contract, in line with the current split.

1.4 This report relates to the release of both capital and revenue funding from reserves to 
deliver this project.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Option1 – That funding be approved and released from reserves to cover the initial 
procurement and implementation of the software and any additional hardware that falls 
outside of the corporate ICT refresh programme at both Councils.

2.2 A Proforma B is attached at Appendix A which details the break-down of costs, however 
the capital funding being sought totals £143,000 for the initial procurement and 
implementation, with the first year software licence revenue costs totalling £35,000.  This 
cost will be split across both Councils with the agreed proportion for combined ICT 
projects being shared across both SHDC & BDC, the BDC contribution coming back into 
SHDC budgets (capital 50:50; revenue 60:40 BDC:SHDC) . This capital cost will be split 

Page 27

Agenda Item 9.



across 2018/19 and 2019/20 as the intended implementation period will cross two 
financial years (£109,000 in 2018/19 and £34,000 in 2019/20).  Annual licence and 
maintenance revenue costs after year 1 are anticipated to be within the current annual 
revenue budget.

2.3 Option 2 is to do nothing and let the existing contracts run out.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To ensure that a new robust and modern software system is in place for the 
environmental health and licensing functions, to ensure that these functions can operate 
efficiently and reliably after the expiry of the existing contracts, making best use of new 
technologies.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1   The intention of the project is to provide a modern, reliable and effective operating system 
that takes account of both routine business and corporate transformation needs.  The new 
generation of systems are built around agile and mobile working, system integration, 
improved workflow and improved customer and business access.  Specifically, a new 
system is intended to provide the following benefits over and above the core database 
functionality:-

 Based on indicative pricing, it might be possible to realise a reduction in overall 
revenue costs by up to £16k per annum overall (split across both Councils), 
based on system licence / maintenance costs alone, depending upon the 
product selected. 

 It is also anticipated that overall savings can be made year on year through 
reduced reliance on ICT infrastructure / officer time, depending upon the 
delivery model offered by the successful supplier.

 Increased support to the commercialisation of services;
 Improved customer and business access to services 24/7, including online 

applications, forms and payments;
 Enhanced digital service delivery to and interaction with customers, increasing 

options to include, for example, automated email and SMS text responses, 
depending on customer preference;

 A greater emphasis on digital processes, supporting making the service 
‘paper-light’, which will also reduce costs associated with printing / paper 
handling / storage;

 Improved process efficiency through enhanced workflow in the back-office 
system;

 Greater support for mobile, flexible and agile working through enhanced 
functionality away from the traditional office base, also contributing to 
improved customer service;

 Supports the 'intelligent council' by enabling us to better capture and retain 
relevant business information for example;

 To better meet new GDPR requirements around the management and 
retention of personal data;

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 

Page 28



Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 
5.1.1 It is anticipated that the resulting software system will help reduce vehicle use by enabling 

more online accessibility for customers and by enabling mobile and agile working for 
officers, potentially reducing the reliance on daily travel to the office.  Greater digitalisation 
will also support a reduction in printing costs / paper-use.

5.2 Constitution & Legal
5.2.1 The approval and release of new capital funding falling outside of the agreed financial plan, 

is a matter for Full Council.  The procurement is subject to a full OJEU tender process and 
the implementation will be project managed under the auspices of a project board.  The 
project has been brought to the attention of the IT Strategy Board.

5.3 Contracts
5.3.1 Current contracts are due to expire and this procurement would result in one new contract, 

replacing two existing contracts. 

5.4 Corporate Priorities
5.4.1 Through supporting the work of the Environmental Health and Licensing functions, the new 

software system supports to a greater of lesser extent all of the corporate priorities, but 
mostly a) to develop safer, stronger, healthier and more independent communities whilst 
protecting the most vulnerable; and b) to provide the right services at the right time and in 
the right way.  The system will fully support the Public Protection Service's delivery 
objectives, including commercialisation.  Enhanced functionality, mobile working 
functionality, improved workflow, enhanced customer access channels and greater system 
integration opportunities would all be realised through the system, thereby supporting the 
Service and the Council as a whole, in the areas described.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 
5.5.1 The new software system will support enforcement and regulatory compliance in the 

relevant areas of work, as well as enabling relevant intelligence to be captured and shared 
with other regulators and enforcement agencies, for example HMRC in respect of taxi 
licence-holders.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
5.6.1 This has been considered and it’s the opinion of the report author that there is no 

detrimental effect on any person or group arising from this report.

5.7.1 Financial 
5.7.1 A Proforma B detailing the figures is attached at Appendix A. 

5.8 Health & Wellbeing
5.8.1 The new software system supports functions such as food safety, health and safety and 

environmental protection, all of which has a strong role in protecting human health. 

5.9 Reputation 
5.9.1 Inefficiencies and delays caused by inadequate software can affect the reputation of an 

organisation.  Technology and functionality has moved forwards, customer expectation 
regarding service delivery is evolving and it’s important that the operational systems reflect 
this.

Page 29



5.10 Risk Management 
5.10.1 Options are listed in section 2.0.  Risks if we don’t go ahead relate to the expiry of the 

existing contracts, the negotiation of extensions on existing contracts, the potential de-
supporting of the existing products by the suppliers in the relatively near future, due to the 
development of new products, plus the ongoing impact on the business due to the lack of 
functionality and system development to support mobile and agile working, customer 
access and system integration. 

5.11 Safeguarding
5.11.1 The new software system supports the licensing function, which has a strong role around 

safeguarding, especially around taxi drivers, taxi operators, gambling premises and 
personal licence holders.

5.12 Staffing
5.12.1 This report regards the release of funding to procure and implement a replacement IT 

system.  The bid includes the provision of funding to cover additional staffing resources to 
support the project delivery.  Delivery of the project will be governed by a project board 
which will have regard to necessary staffing resources when programming the 
implementation.

5.13 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.13.1 A parallel report will be considered by Full Council at BDC to secure approval for and 

release of, the BDC proportion of the capital that will be recharged by SHDC to BDC.  
Officers are aware that ELDC are in the early stages of planning to replace their back-office 
software systems.  SHDC officers will be keeping a watching brief on this ELDC project.  
The contract to which this capital funding report relates will be awarded on a 3-year 
+1 +1 basis.

5.14 Transformation Programme
5.14.1 This capital funding would support the transformation programme and more detail as to 

where this will be the case is provided within the body of the report.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 The software system to which this bid relates, indirectly benefits the whole of the Council 
area by supporting the environmental health and licensing functions, but doesn’t in itself 
directly impact. 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 SHDC - South Holland District Council
7.2 BDC - Breckland District Council
7.3 Civica APP – Civica is the supplier; APP = Authority Public Protection (the product)
7.4 Idox LALPAC – Idox is the supplier; LALPAC is the product
7.5 ICT – Information & Communication Technologies
7.6 GDPR – General Data Protection Regulation
7.7 OJEU – Official Journal of the European Union
7.8 HMRC – Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs
7.9 ELDC – East Lindsey District Council

Background papers:- None

Page 30

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Richard Boole
Telephone Number: 01775-764667
Email: Richard.boole@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes / No 
Exempt Decision: Yes / No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Proforma B

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



PROFORMA B

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL FINANCIAL COMMENTS & APPRAISAL

THIS DOCUMENT PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED REPORT

FROM: Edward Brindle – CPBS Finance                     
REPORT: Public Protection Software Systems Replacement                     
REPORT DATE: 31st July 2018  

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4
2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Revenue
Costs
Estimated Software Costs 35,000 35,000 35,000
Less Current Budget – CIVICA 
APP/Flare

(30,000) (30,000) (30,000)

Less Current Budget – LALPAC (8,000) (8,000) (8,000)
Revenue
Breckland Contribution (60:40) (21,000) (21,000)      (21,000)
Less Current Breckland CIVICA 
APP/Flare contribution

15,000 15,000 15,000

Total Revenue Saving - (9,000) (9,000) (9,000)

Capital
Income

Breckland Capital Contribution (50:50) (54,500) (17,000)

Costs

Software Purchase 75,000
1 FTE temporary contract (Project 
Delivery) – for 12 months split 50% 18-
19 and 19-20.

15,000 15,000

Hardware Purchase - Tablets 5,000 5,000
Implementation costs/contingency 14,000 14,000
Total SHDC Capital contribution to 
be funded by Reserves

54,500 17,000

Considered By: 
 
                       
Date:

This appraisal is valid for 1 month from issue date.
If there are changes to the original report it may invalidate this document & must be 
reviewed by Finance.

Page 1 of 2

Page 33



PROFORMA B

Financial Services Comments

Based on the estimated costs within the Business Case there will be a £9k annual revenue 
efficiency saving for SHDC from 2019-20. There is, however, a risk of not achieving this 
target in the first year as a result of system license overlaps. Achieving the £9k saving in 
2019/20 will be dependent on the implementation date of the new system and when notice is 
given to the current suppliers.

The estimated capital contribution from SHDC is £71,500. Based on the annual savings 
identified above this represents a 7.9 year pay back period.

There may be a requirement for additional charges from CPBS for system implementation. A 
contingency has therefore been built in to the capital costs to cover any identified additional 
costs during the project implementation. If this is not required the capital contribution 
required by both councils would be reduced and the pay back period would improve.

The South Holland Capital Investment will require funding from reserves. It is recommended 
that this is funded from the Transformation Reserve.

Financial Risks

The Business Case is based on several assumptions around purchase costs, annual license 
fees and implementation dates which could result in a change in the timings and value of 
when costs are incurred.

A more detailed costing exercise will need to be undertaken when the contract is awarded 
after the procurement process.

The figures contained within this Proforma B are based on the assumption that the Capital 
costs are split 50:50 and Revenue costs will be split on a 60:40 basis (Breckland:South 
Holland).

The Business Case does not include additional charges for Infrastructure as this is 
dependent upon the delivery model approved (Cloud or Server based). If the software is not 
cloud based a new server may be required to host the new system. 

This appraisal is valid for 1 month from issue date.
If there are changes to the original report it may invalidate this document & must be 
reviewed by Finance.
__/__/2018 Page 2 of 2

Page 34



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Finance and Executive Director - Commercialisation 
(S151)

To: Cabinet 11 September 2018  

Author: Jane Crosby, Head of Finance; Ray Fleming, Interim Strategic Business 
Partner

Subject: Q1 Finance Report 2018-19

Purpose: This report provides information on Quarter 1 (to 30 June 2018) and forecast 
full year financial position of the Council

Recommendations to Cabinet: 

1) That the report and Appendix A be noted.

2) That the revised General Fund and HRA Capital Programmes be approved and 
recommended to Council 

3) That the contributions to and use of reserves be agreed in line with para 5.4 and 
Appendix A, Tables 3 and 4 of this report.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This report provides information on the full year financial forecasts at 30th June 2018 in the 
following areas:

 The Revenue Budget for the General Fund (GF) and Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA),

 The General Fund and HRA Reserves Position, 
 The Capital Programme for 2018/19 (GF and HRA), and
 The Treasury Management Performance for the year.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note the report and to approve the recommendations detailed at Appendix A.

2.2 To note the report and not approve the recommendations detailed in Appendix A.

2.3 Do nothing.

Page 35

Agenda Item 10.



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To provide members with information on the Council’s overall financial performance to date 
in 2018-19, to recommend an adjusted capital programme and to provide an updated 
financial position on reserves for 2018-19.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To ensure that members are updated regularly on the Council’s overall financial position 
and have the information required to assist in future financial decision making.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 This report is financial in nature. The forecast outturn position in respect of the General 
Fund, HRA, Capital Programme, Reserves and Treasury Management are summarised 
within the following paragraphs with further detail provided at Appendix A.  

5.2 General Fund Revenue Outturn

5.2.1 The Q1 report is currently forecasting a net service overspend in the General Fund of £58k. 
This is made up of a number of variances across services. The forecast outturn position by 
Directorate is detailed at Appendix A – Table 1 together with an analysis of service 
variations.  The main estimated budget variations are : 
 A net service pressure of £138k in Environmental Services resulting from:

o Staff cost pressures due to the level of demand in the Waste service and the 
need to cover sickness and vacancies.

o Income pressures in the area of car parking
o Vehicle running cost pressures from increased fuel cost pressures.
o Offsetting savings in green waste due to not needing marketing spend for the 

promotion of the new service. 
 Additional Fee income forecast in Planning (£70k) and Building Control  (£28k)
 Additional Investment Income of £25k
 Additional Government S31 grant income and renewable energy income of £46k 
 Potential staff cost pressures in Housing £64k – to be reviewed
 Corporate Management operating costs £7k 
 Various other forecasted pressures and savings across a number of services giving a 

net £58k pressure, as detailed in Appendix A.

5.2.2 In addition, £254k of  potential pressures in Moving Forward savings that have been built 
into the budget but which have currently not been allocated to specific projects 

5.2.3 The position above also assumes that a number of moving forward savings that have been 
built into service budgets will be fully delivered.  More detail on the Moving Forward 
programme is provided below.

 

Page 36



5.3 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Revenue Outturn

5.3.1 The HRA is forecasting a £67k reduction in its surplus budget. This is mainly due to cost 
pressures on repairs and maintenance.   More detail is provided at Appendix A - Table 2.

5.4 Reserves (GF and HRA)

5.4.1 General Fund Specific Reserves are currently forecast to increase from £7.6m to £8.1m 
based on a reduced forecast use of reserves in 2018/19. However, at this stage in the year 
this position is likely to change depending upon future changes in revenue and capital 
commitments. Further details are set out in Appendix A - Table 3.

5.4.2 The General Fund Reserve Balance remains at £2.078m.  During 2018/19 a review of the 
level of the General Fund Reserve will be carried out relative to the Council’s overall risks 
and members will be informed if any change is proposed to the level of this reserve.  

5.4.3 The HRA General Reserve balance is forecast to increase from £12.752m to £15.798m.  
The Major Repairs balance is forecast to reduce from £6.4m to £4.6m as a result of capital 
funding requirements in excess of the annual contribution from Depreciation. More detail is 
provided at Appendix A – Table 4.

5.5 Capital – General Fund

5.5.1 The total original approved General Fund Capital Programme for 2018-19 was £4.083m of 
which £3.654m had received specific scheme approval.  Since the programme was 
approved at Council in February there have been a number of changes to the programme. 
Some of these schemes have been reported and approved through Council and some 
approved through delegated authority. Appendix A Table 5 details the changes required to 
the capital programme and the funding of the programme. The new programme requiring 
approval totals £4.648m of which £4.346m is aligned to specific schemes and a balance of 
£302k relates to potential Digital Vision schemes which still need to be developed and 
approved. 

5.5.2 Cabinet are asked to recommend that Council approves this revised capital programme.

5.5.3  There are a number of potential capital schemes that are being developed and which may 
come forward for inclusion in the 2018/19 or 2019/20 capital programme. These include:

o Replacement of CRM system (2019/20)
o CSU Vehicle Replacement
o Member device refresh (2019/20)

5.5.4 Table 6 and the explanatory notes details the current forecast outturn (£4,079m) against 
the revised capital programme of approved schemes (£4.346m). The main areas of 
projected underspend relate to DFGs and the purchase cost of the new garden waste 
vehicle. 

Page 37



5.6 Capital – HRA

5.6.1 The total original approved HRA Capital programme for 2018/19 was £9.22m. Table 7 
details the changes required to the capital programme and the funding of the programme. 
The new programme requiring approval totals £7.45m. The reduction is due to the slippage 
of the Weston and Severn Road Schemes.

5.6.2 Table 8 and the explanatory notes provides detail on the forecast outturn expenditure of 
£5.079m, and the projected underspend of £2.371m.  The main reasons for this projected 
underspend related to the Purchase of Units Scheme.

5.6.3 It is recommended that approval be given to move £300K from the affordable housing 
budget for 2020/21 into 2019/20. This is to support the proposed acquisition of s.106 
affordable housing units from a local developer. Together with the £2M in the 2018-19 
budget this will give £2.3M to service the proposed investment in 24 properties through the 
developer.

5.7 Capital - Other

5.7.1 To date the Council has received £414k in capital receipts, from 7 right to buy sales. 

5.8 Treasury Management

5.8.1 Appendix A provides more information on the investments held by the Council at 30 June 
2018 (£40.8m). The average investments held during the year were £42.6m.

5.8.2 Interest earned on investments during Quarter 1 was £84.1k compared to the profiled 
budget of £64.3k.  This increase can be attributed to higher levels of investment balances 
being held and also higher than anticipated interest rate levels in the market. Investment 
earnings will need to be reviewed quarter 2 due to the base rate increase on 2 August 
2018.

5.8.3 The 2018/19 budget for investment interest was set at £258k and the estimated outturn is 
£300k.

5.8.4 Members are asked to note the Treasury Management position.  A mid-term treasury report 
will be submitted to the Governance and Audit Committee on 18 October 2018.

5.9 Moving Forward Programme

5.9.1 The Moving Forward Programme has a savings target of £985k in 2018-19.  Of this, £731k 
has been allocated to services as savings or additional income targets.  The largest area of 
risk in this total is in procurement and contract management, where a saving of £54k is 
required in 2018/19, rising to £171k by 2020/21.

5.9.2 The balance of £254k is sitting in Corporate Improvement as an unallocated savings target.  
A Star Chamber process is currently underway to scrutinise embedded savings and to look 

Page 38



for further savings.  Managers will be tasked with identifying projects and work streams to 
meet this target.

5.9.3 The Council’s 2018-19 budget includes £343k of Moving Forward expenditure funded from 
reserves.  The current forecast assumes that this budget will be spent in-year.  The Moving 
Forward programme is currently being reviewed.

5.9.4 The Council will continue to develop and implement its programme of service 
improvements. It will use its reserves to finance those projects which are aimed at 
delivering future savings and income generation.

6 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1       Income and expenditure affect all wards of the Council.

7 ACRONYMS

7.1 GF General Fund
HRA Housing Revenue Account
CPBS Compass Point Business Services
RTB Right to Buy
ICT Information and Communications Technology
MTFP Medium term Financial Plan

Background papers: The 2018/19 Estimates Report to Council February 2018

Lead Contact Officer:
Name and Post: Jane Crosby, Head of Finance  
Telephone Number
Email: jane.crosby@cpbs.com, ray.fleming@cpbs.com

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Q1 Financial report for 2018/19 with details of the GF and HRA 
revenue spend, Reserves, Capital expenditure and Treasury 
Management.

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1

APPENDIX A

South Holland District Council 

Financial Report for the Quarter Ending 30 June 2018 

This report has five sections
 Section 1 – General Fund Revenue budget
 Section 2 -  HRA Budget
 Section 3 -  Reserves
 Section 4 – Capital budget
 Section 5 – Treasury update

General Fund Revenue Outturn

Based on the information as at 30 June 2018, Table 1 below details the forecast out-turn 
against the approved budget for 2018-19 of £13m.  

Significant variances to the approved budget are detailed in the notes below.

The forecast outturn is estimated at a £58k overspend compared to the revised budget.  In 
addition there is an unallocated Moving Forward savings target of £254k to be met.  A Star 
Chamber process is currently underway to scrutinise embedded savings and to look for 
further savings.

Table 1 – General Fund Revenue Outturn

Service Area
Note Budget

£’000
Forecast 
Outturn

£’000

Forecast 
Variance

£’000

Commercialisation
Commercialisation 1 310 271 (39)
Economic Development 2 132 131 (1)
Public Protection 3 405 382 (23)
Finance 4 643 643 0
Revenues and Benefits 5 473 479 6
Total – Commercialisation 1,963 1,906 (57)

Place
Assets and Property 6 207 207 0
Building Control 7 25 (12) (37)
Communities 8 1,170 1,168 (2)
Environmental Services 9 3,040 3,178 138
Housing 10 181 245 64
Planning 11 (227) (294) (67)
Investment properties 12 (152) (152) 0
Total - Place 4,244 4,340 96

Strategy and Governance
Corporate Improvement and Performance 13 220 204 (16)
Communications 14 122 128 6
Corporate Management 15 520 527 7
Democratic Services 16 1,023 1,021 (2)
HR 17 741 745 4
IT and Customer Services 18 1,174 1,175 1
Total - Strategy and Governance 3,800 3,800 0

Page 41



 

2

Service Area
Note Budget

£’000
Forecast 
Outturn

£’000

Forecast 
Variance

£’000

Statutory recharge to the HRA for 
support services (*) (1,332) (1,332) 0

Internal Drainage Boards & Parish 
Precepts 19 3,178 3,178 0
Investment Income 20 (196) (221) (25)
Capital and Other Adjustments 0 0 0
Transfers to/from Reserves 1,556 1,647 91
Total Cost of Services 13,213 13,318 105

Financing
Government Grants 21 (2,213) (2,242) (29)
Council Tax 22 (5,722) (5,722) 0
Retained Business Rates 23 (5,024) (5,042) (18)
Total Financing (12,959) (13,006) (47)

Net Service Variance 254 312 58

Moving Forward Savings Target (**) (254) 0 254

Net Variance 0 312 312

(*) Support service recharges are a non-controllable cost to budget holders, and are therefore not 
reported as part of the service analysis above. An adjusting line has been added to show the value of 
recharges to the HRA, for support services and corporate management (including the debt management 
recharge); a corresponding debit entry is showing in the HRA table below. 

(**) The Moving Forward Service Target represents Moving Forward savings assumptions built into the 
budget but not yet allocated to services or work streams.  Managers will be tasked with identifying 
projects and activities to meet this savings target, but until then it is a risk to the Council.

Notes to Table 1:

1. Commercialisation (£39k) – Vacant posts in Planning Policy, Housing Development 
Programme Management and Delivery Unit (partially offset by Agency expenditure).

2. Economic Development (£1k) – vacant post in Economic Development, to be used to 
fund a Council contribution to Opportunity Peterborough 

3. Public Protection (£23k) – salary underspend due to vacant posts (£34k) with offsetting 
use of external professional staff and increased costs of transport.

4. Finance £0k –.  Bank charges to be reviewed in Q2.  No material variances.

5. Revenues and Benefits +£6k – No material variance at this stage, however full impact 
of introduction of Universal Credit not known at this stage. To be reviewed in Q2.  

6. Assets and Property £0k – No material variances.

7. Building Control (£37k) – Additional fee income (£20k), (£9k) trainee vacancy, (£8k) 
additional consultancy fee income.

8. Community Development (£2k) – there are a number of minor over and underspends 
within the service.

Page 42



 

3

9. Environmental Services +£138k - Overspend of £80k in relation to staff costs to 
maintain core services (additional agency used due to establishment budget issues and 
to cover sickness and vacancies); Salary Efficiency Target £50k (allocation of this target 
to services to be reviewed); increased vehicle running costs of £9k due to increased fuel 
prices and  loss of car park income of £27k due to delay in replacement of car park 
machines. Garden Waste £35k under spent due to not requiring budgeted marketing 
costs of new rounds and under spends on maintenance; other variances £7k. 

10. Housing £64k – Resourcing requirements for the team are currently under review.   A 
revised forecast will be presented in the Q2 report.  

11. Planning (£67k) – forecast additional £70k fee income.

12. Investment properties £0k – No material variances.

13. Corporate Improvement and Performance (£16k) - Underspend on staff costs.

14. Communications +£6k – Agency and staff recruitment costs.

15. Corporate Management +£7k – staff costs.

16. Democratic Services (£2k) – minor variances in staff costs off-set by additional Legal 
Services income.  Note that the current forecast assumes that the Procurement savings 
target for the year of £54k will be met.  To date savings of £19k have been identified for 
2018/19.

17. HR +£4k - additional Itrent support with Phase 3 (contract with Breckland and SHDC) to 
be reviewed for 19-20.

18. IT and Customer Services +£1k – additional software license costs partially off-set by 
additional recharge to Breckland and reserves.

19. IDB & Parish Precepts £0k – Forecast to be on budget

20. Investment Income (£25k) – Additional income on investments arising from increased 
interest rates and higher levels of cash balances than budgeted.

21. Government Grant (£29k) – Forecast additional s31 grant relating to Business Rates.

22. Council Tax £0k – No variance in year.

23. Retained Business Rates (£18k) – Renewable energy disregard gain from 2017/18.

Page 43



 

4

Housing Revenue Account

Table 2 – HRA Revenue Outturn

Notes to Table 2:
1. Charges for Services and Facilities (2k) –Room hire within sheltered housing is 

forecast to be £2K up. This is a demand driven income.
2. Contributions to Expenditure – The forecast is as budgeted 
3. Repairs and Maintenance +£127k – A series of salary adjustments (£30K) and residual 

costs on last year’s place savings (£83K) accounts for the majority of the projected 
overspend.  

4. Supervision and Management (£8k) –The forecast has been reduced by £30K due to 
due to a reassessment of the costs of general fund staff charged to the HRA.  Furniture 
& equipment on sheltered housing will generate a saving of £28K. Staff training is 
expected to increase by £15K, and a General Fund charge for £30K for footpath lighting 
has been added. 

5. Rents Rates Taxes and Other Charges (£8k) – Actual levels for sheltered housing 
council tax less than budgeted.

6. Depreciation – The forecast is as budgeted 
7. Movement in the allowance for bad debts +0k – Provision was set high due to impact 

of universal credit but could be reassessed following information received regarding the 
collection of tenants rent post-UC.  Forecast kept at budget level - to be reviewed in Q2.

8. Statutory recharge to the HRA for support services – The forecast is as budgeted 
9. Investment Income (£17k) - Increased interest rates. 

Service Area Note Budget
£’000

Forecast 
Outturn

£’000

Forecast 
Variance

£’000

Rent Income - Dwellings (14,713) (14,713) -
Charges for Services and Facilities 1 (1,154) (1,156) (2)
Contributions to Expenditure 2 (37) (37) -
Total Income (15,904) (15,906) (2)

Repairs and Maintenance 3 3,285 3,412 127
Supervision and Management 4 2,693 2,660 (33)
Rents, rates, taxes and other charges 5 77 69 (8)
Depreciation 6 2,923 2,923 -
Movement in the allowance for bad debts 7 169 169 -
Statutory recharge to the HRA for support 
services 8 1,332 1,332 -
Total Expenditure 10,479 10,565 86
 
Contribution from Operations (5,425) (5,341) 84

Investment Income 9 (62) (79) (17)
Interest Payable on £67.456m 2,348 2,348 -
Capital expenditure charged in year - - -
Other Adjustments - - -
 
Net (Surplus)/Deficit (3,139) (3,072) 67

Page 44



 

5

RESERVES
Table 3 – General Fund Reserves

Reserve

Balance 
31 March 

2018
£’000

Contributions 
to Reserve

£’000

Use of 
Reserve

£’000

Balance 31 
March 2019

£’000
Comments

Transformation (599) 420 (179) Use – Priory Road self-serve portals £10k; GIS 
system £13k; Car Park machines £34k; Leisure 
provision £19k; South Holland Centre future 
options £100k; Moving Forward initiatives to be 
identified £244k

Investment and Growth (5,218) (1,007) 492 (5,733) Contributions - New Homes Bonus £1,007k 
Uses –  Grounds Maintenance vehicles £46k; HIF 
programme manager £53k; Kings Road access 
legal costs £13k  Garden Waste vehicles £160k;  
Growth feasibility/investigations funding £100k; 
Delivery Unit resourcing £110k (to be reviewed); 
Priory Road works £10k

Earmarked Grants (313) 55 (258) Uses - HCA capacity funding.  
Council Tax (1,299) (722) 385 (1,636) Contributions – Business Rates Surplus from 

2017/18 £722k
Uses – South Holland Centre Emergency Works 
£250k; Information Governance £28k; Pride in 
South Holland £85k; Spalding Specials £4k; 
Castle Sports Complex boiler replacement £18k

Replacement & Refurbishment (189) (136) 77 (248) Contributions – annual budget contribution 
(£136k).
Use - £77k use of Reserve to support in year 
planned maintenance programme

Total Specific GF Reserves (7,618) (1,865) 1,429 (8,054)
General Reserve (2,078) (2,078)
Total Reserves (9,696) (1,865) 1,429 (10,132)

P
age 45



 

6

Table 4 – Housing Revenue Account Reserves

Balance 
31 March 

2018
Contributions 

to Reserve
Use of  

Reserve

Balance 
31 March 

2019
Comments

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

HRA Working Balance: (12,752) (3,068) (15,820) Transfer to MRR of forecast HRA 
surplus

HRA Insurance Reserve (200) 0 0 (200)

Major Repairs Reserve (6,435) (2,923) 4,766 (4,592) HRA depreciation contribution to MRR is 
used to fund the capital programme in 
future years.  The transfer from MRR in-
year is being used to fund 18/19 capital 
programme spend

(19,387) (5,991) 4,766 (20,612)

P
age 46



 

7

CAPITAL PROGRAMME

The table below and the following notes detail the changes required to the original approved 
capital programme (as approved at Council in February as part of the budget setting report).

Table 5 – Revised General Fund Capital programme

Project
Note Original 

Budget
2018/19

£’000

Amendment
£’000

Revised 
Budget
2018/19

£’000

Disabled Facilities Grants 585 - 585
Decent Homes Unfit and Disrepair 75 - 75
Welland Homes 1,708 - 1,708
GIS System 18 - 18
ICT Infrastructure 205 - 205
Self Serve Reception 1 - 10 10
Smart Screens 2 - 27 27
Garden Waste (vehicle) 3 - 181 181
Car Park Machines 4 - 38 38
Grounds Maintenance Vehicle 5 - 50 50
Grants for Growth 896 - 896
South Holland Centre 6 - 250 250
Warden Tree Industrial Estate 7 47 (47) -
Fleet Road Industrial Estate 7 55 (55) -
Railway Lane Industrial Estate 7 65 (65) -
Priory Road – Heating and Access 8 - 160 160
Shared Public Protection Software 9 - 55 55
Crease Drove Industrial Project 10 - 70 70
Castle Sports Centre Boiler 11 - 18 18
Total Approved Schemes 3,654 692 4,346

Financed By:
Capital Receipts 372 (70) 302
Capital Grants and Contributions 1,565 - 1,565
Internal Borrowing 1,708 - 1,708
Revenue Resources 9 762 771

3,654 692 4,346
Schemes Subject to Approval
Grounds maintenance 12 50 (50) -
Digital Vision 13 329 (27) 302
Priory Road 14 50 (50) -
Total 429 (127)          302

Financed By:
Capital Receipts 329 (27) 302
Revenue Resources 100 (100) -

429 (127) 302

Total All Schemes 4,083 - 4,648

Notes to Table:

1. Self Serve Reception (£10k) – Scheme originally approved in 2017-18. Additional 
spend required in 2018-19 to allow self-serve units to function as required. Funded by 
Transformation Programme Reserve.

Page 47



 

8

2. Smart Screens (£27k) – Element of Digital Vision project (Note 13 - below the line 
scheme) to be allocated to smart screen upgrade in Meeting Rooms. Funded by Capital 
Receipts. Digital Vision allocation (note 13) reduced and this element moved to 
approved schemes.

3. Garden Waste (£181k) – Part of the 2017-18 Capital programme. Vehicle delivery 
delayed and slipped to 2018-19. Funded by Investment and Growth Reserve.

4. Car Park Machines (£38k) – £34k agreed at Moving Forward board. Funded by 
Transformation Reserve. Additional approved for machine upgrade (£4k). Total 
programme now (£38k).

5. Grounds Maintenance (£50k) – Grounds Maintenance Vehicle replacement report 
agreed at Council – April 2018. Funded by Reserves. Below the line scheme - Note 12 
adjusted and moved to approved schemes.

6. South Holland Centre (£250k) – Agreed at Council 16th May 2018
7. Industrial re-roofing – Schemes to be fundamentally reviewed by the service and 

revisited with revised costings during 2019-20.
8. Priory Road (£160k) – Heating and Access to be funded by the Investment and Growth 

Reserve.
9. Shared Public Protection Software – Joint procurement of Shared Public Protection 

software with Breckland. Total Capital investment estimated to be £72K of which £55K 
is forecast for 2018-19. Funded by Transformation Reserve.

10. Crease Drove Industrial Project – Scheme originally programmed for 2019-20 and 
2020-21. Agreement to accelerate the scheme for planning application and design/ 
tendering work.

11. Castle Sports (£18k) – Replacement of Castle Sports Boiler System to be funded from 
Council Tax Reserve.

12. Grounds Maintenance – See note 5 above.
13. Digital Vision – See note 2 above
14. Priory Road – Budget to be de-committed, as required works are revenue costs.

It is recommended that Cabinet proposes the revised 2018-19 Capital Programme be 
approved by Council.

Other potential future schemes identified through Capital Working Group and 
ICT/Customer Governance Board

Several schemes have been identified at the various working groups which may 
require the Capital programme to be amended in the future. These include:

1. Replacement of CRM system (2019/20)
2. CSU Vehicle Replacement
3. Member device refresh (2019/20)

Based on the revised capital programme detailed at Table 5 above, Table 6 and its 
explanatory notes show the current estimated outturn position for the revised General Fund 
Capital Programme. 

Page 48



 

9

Table 6 – General Fund Forecast Capital Outturn

Project
Note Revised 

Budget
2018/19

£’000

Forecast 
Outturn 
2018/19

£’000

Variance  
(under)/   

overspend
£’000

Disabled Facilities Grants 1 585 400 (185)
Decent Homes Unfit and Disrepair 75 25 (50)
Welland Homes    1,708 1,708 -
GIS System 2 18 21 3
ICT Infrastructure 205 205 -
Self Serve Reception 10 10 -
Smart Screens 27 27 -
Garden Waste (vehicle) 3 181 160 (21)
Car Park Machines 38 38 -
Grounds Maintenance 4 50 46 (4)
Grants for Growth 896 896 -
South Holland Centre 250 250 -
Castle Sports 18 18 -
Shared Public Protection Software 55 55 -
Crease Drove Industrial Project 70 70 -
Priory Road – Heating and Access 160 160 -
Total Approved Schemes 4,346 4,089 (257)

Financed By:
Capital Receipts 302 302 -
Capital Grants and Contributions 1,565 1,330 (235)
Internal Borrowing 1,708 1,708 -
Revenue Resources 771 749 (22)

4,346 4,089 (257)
Schemes Subject to Approval
Digital Vision 302 - (302)

Total 302 - (302)

Financed By:
Capital Receipts 302 - (302)
Revenue Resources - -

302 - (302)

Total All Schemes 4,648 4,089 (559)

Notes to Table 6:

1. Disabled Facilities Grants (£185k) – Forecast expenditure is based on current 
scheme referrals from LCC.  (Any unused grant will be transferred to the capital grants 
unapplied reserve for future spend).

2. GIS System +£3k – Upon system implementation further requirements were identified. 
50% of the overspend funded by a capital contribution from Breckland.

3. Garden Waste (£21k) – Vehicle costs less than estimated.
4. Ground Maintenance Equipment (£4k) – Grounds Maintenance Equipment less that 

estimated.

Page 49



 

10

Table 7 – Revised HRA Capital programme 2018-19

Project Note
 Original    
Budget
2018/19

£’000

Amendment
£’000

Revised 
Budget
2018/19

£’000

Central Heating Upgrade 1 1,481 133 1,614
Kitchen and Bathroom Replacement 1,169 - 1,169
Electrical Upgrade 2 122 34 156
Renewable Energy/Energy Efficiency 1 133 (133) -
Gutters 263                      - 263
Council House – Re-Roofing 425 - 425
Doors and Windows 3 - 3
Chimneys 252 - 252
Paths and Drives 36 - 36
Boundary Walls 90 - 90
Smoke Alarms 2 34 (34) -
Fees 201 - 201
Decent Homes 4,209 - 4,209

Sewerage Treatment Plant 100 - 100
Car Parks 65 - 65
Trinity Court 3 50 (50) -
The Square 187 - 187
Major Area Schemes 402 (50) 352

Housing IT System 150 - 150
ICT Strategy 51 - 51
IT/System 201 - 201

Major Adaptions 408 - 408
Aids & Adaptions 408 - 408

Weston Redevelopment Scheme 4 1,000 (750) 250
Purchase of Units 2,000 - 2,000
Severn Road Development Scheme 4 1,000 (970) 30
Affordable Housing 4,000             (1,720) 2,280
Total Approved Schemes 9,220 (1,770) 7,450

Financed By:
Capital Receipts 1,120 (516) 604
Direct Revenue Funding - -
Major Repairs Reserve 8,100 (1,254) 6,846
Grants and Contributions - - -

9,220 (1,770) 7,450

Notes to Table 7:
1. Central Heating Upgrade – Renewable Energy scheme part of 2018-19 Central Heating 

Programme.
2. Electrical upgrade – Smoke Alarm scheme part of 2018-19 Electrical Upgrade 

programme
3. Trinity Court – Work carried out in 2017-18. 
4. New Build – Based on revised Business Plan. Remaining budget to be slipped into 2019-

20

It is recommended that Cabinet proposes the Trinity Court HRA Capital programme be 
de-committed due to work having been completed in 17-18

Page 50



 

11

Table 8 – Housing Revenue Account Forecast Capital Outturn

Project Note
Revised 
Budget
2018/19

£’000

Forecast 
Outturn

£’000

Variance
(under)/

overspend
£’000

Central Heating Upgrade 1 1,614 1,414 (200)
Kitchen and Bathroom Replacement 1,169 1,113 (56)
Electrical Upgrade 156 150 (6)
Gutters 263            263 -
Council House – Re-Roofing 425 425 -
Doors and Windows 2 3 3 -
Chimneys 2 252 252 -
Paths and Drives 2 36 36 -
Boundary Walls 2 90 90 -
Fees 201 201 -
Decent Homes 4,209 3,947 (262)

Sewerage Treatment Plant 100 100 -
Car Parks 65 65 -
The Square 187 187 -
Major Area Schemes 352 352 -

Housing IT System 150 150
ICT Strategy 51 - (51)
IT/System 201 150 (51)

Major Adaptions 408 350 (58)
Aids & Adaptions 408 350 (58)

Weston Redevelopment Scheme 250 250 -
Purchase of Units 3 2,000 - (2,000)
Severn Road Development Scheme 30 30 -
Affordable Housing 2,280 280 (2,000)
Total Approved Schemes 7,450 5,079 (2,371)

Financed By:
Capital Receipts 604 313 (291)
Direct Revenue Funding - -
Major Repairs Reserve 6,846 4,766 (2,080)
Grants and Contributions - - -

7,450 5,079 (2,371)

Notes to Table 8:

1. Central Heating (£200k) – Programme valuation reduced.
2. Chimneys, Paths/Drives, Boundary Walls, Car Parks, Smoke alarms and The 

Square – Contracts on procurement planner, intention to spend the budget but will 
need monitoring to see when the works start on site and revising this figure if 
necessary. Smoke alarms forecast included in electrical upgrade programme resulting 
in variance.

3. Purchase of Units – (£2,000k) Offer made for acquisition of units. 

Page 51



 

12

Capital Receipts

They have been 7 right-to-buy receipts in the year to date, resulting in total receipts of £414k. 

Treasury 

Security

The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks for the management of risk as Officers 
believe that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are adequate to 
monitor the current and trend positions and amend the operational strategy to manage risk 
as conditions change. The Council uses the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset 
Services which provides a maximum duration for investments depending on the colour rating 
calculated for each financial institution.

All investments held by the Council were within the recommended maximum duration at the 
time the investment was made.  

The chart below shows how the Council’s funds are spread between differing counterparties.  

Cambridgeshire 
CC, £4,000,000

CCLA, £8,200,000

Goldman Sachs IB, 
£2,000,000

Lloyds Bank, 
£2,688,959

London Borough of 
Enfield, £5,000,000

Municipal Bonds 
Agency, £50,000

National Bank of 
Canada , 

£2,500,000

National 
Westminster Bank, 

£2,500,000

Oadby & Wigston 
BC, £3,000,000

Sumitomo Mitsui 
BC Europe, 
£3,000,000

Svenska 
Handelsbanken, 

£1,963,096

Welland Homes 
Equity, £876,966

Welland Homes 
Long Term Debtor, 

£1,585,107

Counterparty Exposure

Cash

The Council’s average level of deposits during 2018/19 to date was £42.6m.  As at 30 June 
2018 investments held were £40.8m of which £10.4m was instant access cash available to 
meet cash flow requirements.  Longer term investments were made up of:

£28m - short term investments up to 12 months
£877k - Welland Homes equity
£50k – Municipal Bond Agency Equity
£1.585m - loans to Welland Homes 

Page 52



 

13

The chart below shows the amounts held in relation to the remaining period to maturity. 

C
al

l

< 
1 

M
on

th

1-
3 

M
on

th
s

3-
6 

M
on

th
s

6-
9 

M
on

th
s

9-
12

 M
on

th
s

> 
12

 M
on

th
s

0

3,000,000

6,000,000

9,000,000

12,000,000

15,000,000

Maturity Structure of Investments

Maturity Period

£

Yield

Budgeted Interest 2018/19 £258k (£196k GF, £62k HRA)   
Actual Interest achieved 2018/19 £84,127 (£60,762 Gen.Fund, £23,365 HRA)
Target yield (Average 3 month LIBID) 0.553%
Actual Yield achieved for 2018/19 0.79%
Actual Yield achieved for 2017/18 0.662%

The increased levels of investment interest achieved can be attributed to higher levels of 
investment balances being held and also higher than anticipated interest rate levels since the 
original budget was agreed. The projected investment income will be reviewed in quarter 2 
due to the base rate increase on 2 August 2018. 

External Borrowing

The Council borrowed £67.456m from the PWLB on 28th March 2012 to meet its obligations 
under the Housing Revenue Finance Reforms. This was borrowed for a period of 50 years 
on a maturity basis at a rate of 3.48%. No new borrowing has been undertaken during the 
financial year.

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director, Strategy and Governance – Maxine O’Mahony

To: Cabinet 11th September 2018

Author: Charlotte Paine – Senior Business Intelligence Officer

Subject: Performance Overview Report – Quarter 1 2018/19

Purpose: To provide an update on Council performance for the period 1 April 
2018 to 30  June 2018

Recommendation(s): 

1)  To note the content of the report

1.0 BACKGROUND

The Quarter 1 2017/18 Performance Report (Appendix A) aims to provide Members 
and residents with information about how the Council is delivering its services and 
how it is progressing against its Corporate Priorities.  The covering report highlights 
in further detail some of the indicators within the performance report.

Areas where performance has improved are brought to Members’ attention, as are 
areas of concern where performance is below expected levels or is considered to be 
worsening.

1.1 Key Performance Indicators

Quarter 1 saw performance improve slightly in comparison to quarter 4. Performance 
is rated as ‘fair’ with 12 indicators being green (60%) which indicates good 
performance. There are 2 (10%) amber indicators and 6 red indicators (30%); 
highlighting lower than expected performance. There are 8 indicators which are 
classified as data only; this means that they are monitored without requiring a target.

Q1
2015/16

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
2016/17

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
2017/18

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
2018/19

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Red Amber Green

Performance Indicator Status FY 2017/18

Page 55

Agenda Item 11.



1.2 New Indicators for 2018/19

The performance report of quarter 1 proposes new indicators to the panel for the 
monitoring of performance this year. The rationale behind the changes is to ensure 
that the performance being reported in aligned with the refreshed corporate plan of 
2018/19.

The indicators have been selected to ensure that they represent performance across 
the council in line with the critical activities agreed for delivery in this year’s plan. 
Appendix B provides a list of the indicators that have been added, removed or kept 
with the rationale explaining the links to the corporate plan.

It is expected that the new list will give members greater assurance of the delivery of 
the plan and has been done in consultation with the chair and vice chair of PMP.

1.3 Areas of Success

Income Generated by EHT&C
The addition of these indicators was to ensure that the Council is delivering on its 
commercial aim. EHT&C is a commercial arm of the Public Protection team providing 
services at a cost to businesses. Both indicators are being reported above target 
currently highlighting the good work of the team in delivering on their business case 
and generating an income for the Council.

Planning Applications
The planning indicators have been split to understand the performance of the major 
and non-major applications as they have differing targets and timescales. 
Performance of both indicators is reported above target with decisions made within 
agreed timescales. 

Housing Benefit LA error Rate
The LA Error rate currently sits at 0.23% which is below the level of error which could 
possibly incur financial penalty (above 0.48%). This continues on from the good work 
of the previous year which saw the LA Error at its lowest amount.

Business Rate In Year Collection
The amount of money collected for business rates at the beginning of the year is 
above target which continues the good performance of the previous year

1.4 Areas for Improvement

The following areas are either not achieving their target or are experiencing a 
significant decline in performance:

Freedom of Information Requests 
The number of FOI requests that were responded to within the statutory 20 day 
timescale is below target at 67%. This follows an increase in more complex requests 

Page 56



being received which are taking longer to collate. The internal performance audit and 
risk board is monitoring this closely and identifying areas that have high volumes of 
requests to ensure appropriate support is provided and suggest where information 
can be made available online to reduce the number of requests received.

Missed Waste Collection
The first quarter of the year includes a higher proportion of reported missed 
collections. The quarter includes bank holidays which can have an impact on when 
residents present their waste and report missed bins.

Whilst this figure currently sits at 39, which is above target, please note that there 
were over 1 million collections in the period, of which 99.99% were completed as 
scheduled. 

Staff Turnover
Staff turnover for quarter 1 is significantly reduced compared to the previous quarter, 
whilst on a par with the same period in the previous year. In this quarter there were 9 
leavers who either resigned, were made redundant or passed away in service. 
Reasons for staff turnover are monitored to ensure that any areas for concern are 
addressed, where there are patterns in resignations identified HR will be analysing 
and carrying out investigations where issues may be prevalent and this will be raised 
to PMP where required. It is not possible to give further detail due to the low number 
of leavers in the period.

Sickness
Overall working days lost to sickness per FTE has reduced from the previous quarter 
and is reported as 2.75 per FTE for Q1. 90% of sickness instances in the quarter 
were reported in the Place directorate where there is a higher proportion of staff and 
manual, customer focused workers. 
HR are currently undertaking a benchmarking exercise to understand other local 
authority sickness rates and what can be learnt from other authorities.
Quarter 1 continues to see a high number of long term sickness with 85% of the days 
lost being the result of long term sickness. HR are currently working to identify trends 
but at this stage no areas have been identified. HR continue to work with services to 
manage long term sickness and all current long term sickness cases are being case 
managed with a HR business partner actively working with service managers to 
ensure effective communication, occupational health referrals where necessary, 
along with any other suitable interventions in order to ensure the employee can 
return to work as soon as possible.

Housing Voids
Following the service review and new structure in the housing team, there have been 
a number of proposed changes considered to improve service delivery, including how 
voids are dealt with. This has highlighted key areas which need to be further 
investigated and scoped for improvement. The housing service have advised that 
during this period it is likely that the reported figures will continue to be below target 
whilst they analyse the data and working procedures to consider improvement 
opportunities. The housing service will be in attendance at Performance Monitoring 
Panel in September in order to discuss this with members and give assurances of the 
work under way.

Page 57



Empty Properties and New Homes Delivered
There are a further 2 new indicators that are reported under target this quarter. The 
new homes delivered indicator is targeted to the local plan delivery and continues to 
be a challenge to deliver the target. However, there were 35 homes delivered in the 
quarter in Crowland, Pinchbeck, Holbeach and Cowbit.
Empty properties brought back into use in the quarter was not delivered, however the 
service is working to understand the appropriate level of resource needed to reach 
the target and unlock new homes bonus income.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Members are asked to consider the information contained within the report.

2.2 To do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 Report for consideration, in order to fulfil the Cabinets remit.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The Council’s performance is properly scrutinised.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Constitution & Legal

 The report is made within the terms of reference of Cabinet

5.2 Corporate Priorities

The report presents progress monitoring of performance of the corporate priorities.

5.3 Financial

The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some 
information relating to financial matters.

5.4 Reputation
Performance issues can cause some reputational consequence.  It is the purpose 
of this report to highlight performance issues at an early stage.

Page 58



5.5 Risk Management

Performance issues may be subject to risk management measures to protect 
Council interests.

5.6 Staffing
The report contains information relating to staffing issues.

6.0     WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

6.1     No Wards or Communities are affected 

7.0     ACRONYMS 

PMP – Performance Monitoring Panel
LA – Local Authority

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Ross Bangs – Corporate Innovation and Change Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656375
Email: ross.bangs@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting
Name and Post: Ross Bangs – Corporate Innovation and Change Manager

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Quarter 1 Performance Report
Appendix B     South Holland Proposed Performance Indicators 2018/19

Page 59

file:///C:/Users/CharlottePaine/Democratic%20Services/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
mailto:ross.bangs@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

2018/19 Q1 SHDC PMP Report

Generated on: 18 July 2018

         

         

Indicator Gross income generated by EHT&C Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2017/18 N/A N/A N/A

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2018/19 N/A N/A £48,000.00

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

The amount of gross 
income generated by the 
Environmental Health, 
Training and consultancy 
commercial trading arm

 

£26,250.00
 

Higher is better as we look to generate more 
income from our environmental health training 
and consultancy department

Slightly better income first quarter due to Primary Authority income, 
which will not recur again in year so profiling of the budget is 
required and will be looked at for the next quarter

     

 

   

         

P
age 61



2

Indicator Net Income generated by EHT&C (after expenditure) Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2017/18 N/A N/A N/A

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2018/19 N/A N/A £43,935.00

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

The amount of net income 
(surplus after expenditure) 
generated by the 
Environmental Health, 
Training and consultancy 
commercial trading arm 

 

£29,500.00
 

Higher is better as we look to generate more 
income from our environmental health training 
and consultancy department

Estimated as actual figures not currently available.
£48k invoiced and orders
Costs £4,065

Indicator Time to process DFG Applications Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2017/18 N/A N/A N/A

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2018/19 N/A N/A 192.6

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Overall time from 
appointment to 
completion. 

 

Data Only 
 

Lower is better as we look to process 
applications in the shortest time possible

The service have commenced analysis of this data and will continue 
to monitor to ensure that the applications are dealt with in a timely 
manner 

P
age 62



3

Indicator % of complaints responded to within agreed timescales Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Complaints in 
Timescale

Complaints Responded 
To

Value

Q1 2017/18 29 31 94%

Current Performance

Complaints in 
Timescale

Complaints Responded 
To

Value

Q1 2018/19 67 73 92%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

the percentage of the 
complaints that were 
responded to within the 
period, that were 
responded to within the 
agreed timescales (15 day 
stage 1, 20 days stage 2)

 
80%

 
 Higher is better as we look to respond to as 
many as possible in the agreed timescale

Despite an increase in the number of complaints recorded, the 
performance has remained above target

Indicator % of FOI requests responded to within time limit Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number responded in 
time

Number responded to Value

Q1 2017/18 96 125 77%

Current Performance

Number responded in 
time

Number responded to Value

Q1 2018/19 81 121 67%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Of the FOI's responded to 
in the month, the 
percentage of ones that 
were responded to within 
the statutory 20 day 
timescale

 
100%

 
Higher is better as we aim to respond to all 
our FOI requests within the statutory timescale

Performance has seen a dip since the same point last year, this is 
result of the complexity of the requests coming in.

P
age 63



4

Indicator % of Calls Abandoned Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Calls Abandoned Calls Received Value

Q1 2017/18 2,887 28,444 10.15%

Current Performance

Calls Abandoned Calls Received Value

Q1 2018/19 2,975 31,141 9.55%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% of calls that are 
abandoned (call 
terminated prior to 
answering), excluding 
those abandoned within 5 
seconds. 
 
This is a combined 
measure across Customer 
Contact, Revenues and 
Benefits calls 

 
 Data Only

 
A lower % is better as we look to answer more 
calls

Despite an increase in the number of calls, the performance has 
increased from the same time the previous year

Indicator % of household waste recycled or composted Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2017/18 2638.86 tonnes 7869.64 tonnes 33.5%

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2018/19 2728.56 tonnes 8036.68 tonnes 33.92%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% of household waste 
which has been recycled 
and composted (includes 
garden waste) against all 
the household waste 
collected

 

32.17%
 

A higher % is better as we look to recycle or 
compost more waste

Performance has remained the same for recycling whilst there has 
been an increase in the tonnage of garden waste collected compared 
to last year

         

P
age 64



5

         

Indicator Missed Waste Collection Rate Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of missed 
collections

Per 100,000 collection 
figure

Value

Q1 2017/18 335 10.185 33

Current Performance

Number of missed 
collections

Per 100,000 collection 
figure

Value

Q1 2018/19 394 10.185 39

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of missed 
collections per 100,000 
people

 

33

 

A lower number is better as we look to ensure 
fewer waste collections are missed

The period saw a number of bank holidays which often impact upon 
the collection days and can cause an increase in reported missed 
collections. Performance remains over 99% in regards to collections 
made

Indicator Commercial Property Occupancy Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of units let Total number of units Value

Q1 2017/18 50 50 100%

Current Performance

Number of units let Total number of units Value

Q1 2018/19 49 50 98%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Occupancy levels of the 
council's industrial units 

 90%  A higher number is better as we look to rent Performance remains good with all but 1 of the units currently let

P
age 65



6

out as many council owned industrial units as 
possible

         

         

Indicator Staff turnover % Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of leavers in 
period

Total number of staff 
in period

Value

Q1 2017/18 9 244 3.69%

Current Performance

Number of leavers in 
period

Total number of staff 
in period

Value

Q1 2018/19 9 225 3.56%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% of total leavers against 
total number of staff 
employed in period 
(includes involuntary 
leavers) 
 
Target is 10% which has 
been benchmarked 

 

0.83%

 

Lower is better as we look to retain staff The turnover of staff remains the same as last year with leavers’ 
reasons including resignations and redundancies. Due to low figures, 
we are unable to provide a further breakdown in numbers. 

         

P
age 66



7

         

Indicator Working Days Lost to Sickness per FTE Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of days lost Number of FTE Value

Q1 2017/18 606.18 225.75 2.69

Current Performance

Number of days lost Number of FTE Value

Q1 2018/19 550.08 201.97 2.75

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total number of working 
days lost per Full Time 
Equivalent.
This is calculated by taking 
the number of days lost to 
sickness and dividing it by 
the number of full time 
equivalent staff in the 
period

 

2.5
 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of working time lost to sickness 

There were 64 instances of sickness in the quarter which broke down 
into 32 for both long and short term sickness. Performance per FTE 
remains similar to last year whilst days lost has reduced by over 50.

Indicator Working Days Lost to Long Term Sickness per FTE Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of days lost - 
long term

Number of FTE Value

Q1 2017/18 479.58 225.75 2.12

Current Performance

Number of days lost - 
long term

Number of FTE Value

Q1 2018/19 467.36 600.15 0.78

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of working days 
lost per Full Time 
Equivalent for long term 
sickness. 
This is calculated by taking 
the number of days lost to 
long term sickness and 
dividing it by the number 
of full time equivalent staff 
in the period 

 
Data Only 

 
Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of working time lost to sickness 

There were 32 instances of long term sickness in the quarter with 
appropriate action taken by management and HR where required

P
age 67



8

         

         

Indicator Working Days Lost to Short Term Sickness per FTE Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of days lost - 
short term

Number of FTE Value

Q1 2017/18 126.6 225.75 0.56

Current Performance

Number of days lost - 
short term

Number of FTE Value

Q1 2018/19 82.72 600.15 0.14

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of working days 
lost per Full Time 
Equivalent for short term 
sickness. 
This is calculated by taking 
the number of days lost to 
long term sickness and 
dividing it by the number 
of full time equivalent staff 
in the period 

 
 Data Only

 
Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of working time lost to sickness 

There were 32 instances of short term sickness in the quarter with 
appropriate action taken by management and HR where required

         

     

 

   

P
age 68



9

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (total ave. key to key) All Tenures Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Total # days void Total # properties void Value

Q1 2017/18 2,298 61 38 days

Current Performance

Total # days void Total # properties void Value

Q1 2018/19 2,734 71 39 days

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total time in days from 
keys in to keys out - 
including major works for 
all tenures (General Needs 
and Sheltered Housing) 
This is calculated by total 
number of days properties 
remain vacant divided by 
the number or properties 
vacant in the period 

 

28 days
 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
number of days vacant and therefore not 
receiving rent payments 

Work continues to consider the process for the voids and ensure the 
most effective in place with a further report due to PMP in September

Indicator Cases Prevented from Homelessness per 1,000 households Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2017/18 N/A N/A 1.9

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2018/19 N/A N/A N/A

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

P1E Return - Prevention 
and Relieving of 
Homelessness 
Number of potentially 
homeless cases diverted 
from homelessness per 
1,000 households 

 

 

 

This is not a targeted measure. The number 
does not reflect % of cases prevented from 
homelessness and therefore will fluctuate 
dependent upon demand to the service. 

Unfortunately the requirement to update systems in line with the 
Homelessness Reduction Act has meant the figure is not currently 
reportable. It will be made available by Q2

P
age 69



10

Indicator Empty Properties - Back In Use Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2017/18 N/A N/A 18

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2018/19 N/A N/A 0

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of empty 
properties brought back 
into use through 
intervention by the council

 
18.75

 
Higher is better as we look to bring as many 
empty homes back into use as possible

Work is underway to ensure the appropriate resource is made 
available to bring as many empty homes back into use as possible.

         

         

Indicator Businesses Assisted to Develop or Grow via Grants4Growth Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2017/18 N/A N/A 19

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2018/19 N/A N/A 50

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of existing 
businesses assisted to 
develop or grow through 
Economic Development 
support - Grants for 
Growth 

 

8
 

Higher is better as we look to help more 
businesses

Grants for Growth target is to assist at least 170 businesses over the 
life of the project with the reported figure also including Economic 
Development and Inward investment related visits

P
age 70



11

Indicator Number of Grants Awarded via Grants4Growth Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2017/18 N/A N/A 17

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2018/19 N/A N/A 21

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total number of grants 
that are awarded - grants 
for growth 

 
4.33

 
 Higher is better as we look to help more 
businesses

Continue to monitor eligibility of businesses and anticipate a similar 
number of grants in the remaining 7/8 months of the project

Indicator Local Unemployment Levels Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2017/18 N/A N/A 660

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2018/19 N/A N/A 650

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Nationally reported figures 
regarding the local 
unemployment for South 
Holland. This is a data 
measure to provide 
context on the health of 
the district in regards to 
employment 

 

Data Only 
 

Lower is better as we look to have more of our 
residents in work

The quarter saw an initial increase in April before levelling at current 
rate. This equates to 1.2% of SH residents and compares to 1.8% 
regionally and 2.2% nationally

         

P
age 71



12

         

Indicator % of non-major applications determined within 8 weeks or agreed extension Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Minor Applications in 
Time

Total Minor Apps 
Decided

Value

Q1 2017/18 N/A N/A N/A

Current Performance

Minor Applications in 
Time

Total Minor Apps 
Decided

Value

Q1 2018/19 181 222 81.53%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

This PI measures the % of 
non-major applications 
that have been determined 
within 8 weeks or agreed 
extension, this is in line 
with national 
requirements.

 

70%

 

We look to achieve the highest amount 
possible as we aim to determine all non-major 
planning applications within 8 weeks or agreed 
extension as set out with national 
requirements

Performance is above target with applications being determined 
within the agreed timescale

     

 
 

  

         

P
age 72



13

Indicator % of Major applications determined within 13 weeks or agreed extension Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

# major apps detrm in 
13 or extn

# major applications 
determined

Value

Q1 2017/18 16 17 94.12%

Current Performance

# major apps detrm in 
13 or extn

# major applications 
determined

Value

Q1 2018/19 12 13 92.31%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% determined within 13 
weeks (or with agreed 
extension or PPA) 

 

60%
 

Higher is better as we aim to determine all 
major applications within 13 weeks or the 
agreed extension

Significantly above target, reflecting effective use of extensions of 
time on major applications, where S106 agreements are often 
required.

Indicator Housing Benefit LA Error Rate Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Error expenditure Total housing benefit 
expend

Value

Q1 2017/18 6,291.29 4,203,348.61 0.15%

Current Performance

Error expenditure Total housing benefit 
expend

Value

Q1 2018/19 9,100.88 3,980,809.5 0.23%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Local Authority error in 
Housing Benefit 
overpayment 
Amount of benefits 
overpaid divided by 
benefits paid (% of overall 
expenditure) 

 0.42%  Lower is better as we look to minimise the Performance within threshold to receive 100% subsidy.

P
age 73



14

amount of money paid in error and reduce the 
risk of financial penalty (which occurs above 
0.48%) 

         

         

Indicator Business Rate In Year Collection Rate Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q1 2017/18 8,107,286.34 26,458,218.98 30.64%

Current Performance

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q1 2018/19 8,341,977.56 27,027,333.11 30.86%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Amount of Business Rates 
collected in the year 
against the total 
collectable debit 

 
30%

 
Higher is better as we look to collect as much 
of the business rates debit as possible 

Collection at the beginning of the year is on target at slightly above 
last years

         

     

 

   

P
age 74



15

Indicator Council Tax In Year Collection Rate Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q1 2017/18 13,058,392.31 43,006,805.21 30.36%

Current Performance

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q1 2018/19 13,852,322.38 45,911,851.38 30.17%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Amount of Council Tax 
collected in the year 
against the total 
collectable debit 

 

30.35%

 

Higher is better as we look to collect as much 
of the Council Tax debit as possible 

Currently 0.18% behind target. Recovery action is being taken in line 
with our robust recovery timetable. The first Court hearing for those 
in default with their current year's Council Tax was in June and we are 
now in the process of taking the appropriate enforcement action on 
the Liability Orders obtained. We recognise that the impact of Local 
Council Tax Support and the role out of Universal Credit within the 
district is likely to have an adverse impact on collection but this will 
be monitored closely over the year.  We anticipate that the end of 
year performance will be in line with previous year's performance.

     

 

 

 

 

         

P
age 75



16

Indicator New Homes Delivered Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2017/18 N/A N/A 21

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2018/19 N/A N/A 35

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

The number of new homes 
delivered by the council 
(acquired directly, built 
directly or enabled by the 
authority from direct 
intervention)

 

102
 

Higher is better as we look to deliver more 
new homes

The first quarter has seen 28 market properties enabled and 7 
affordable rent properties across the district including in Holbeach, 
Crowland and Cubit 

Indicator % of due rent collected on Welland homes properties Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Due rent actually 
collected

Due rent to be 
collected

Value

Q1 2017/18 11,075 11,075 100

Current Performance

Due rent actually 
collected

Due rent to be 
collected

Value

Q1 2018/19 9,434.8 10,144.7 93

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

The percentage of rent 
collected from maximum 
possible rent to be 
collected

 
95

 
A higher % is better as we look to collect as 
much of the due rent as possible

The reduction is due to a late rent payment which is being closely 
monitored.

P
age 76



17

Indicator New homes delivered by SHDC through Welland Homes Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2017/18 N/A N/A 0

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2018/19 N/A N/A 0

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of new homes 
delivered via Welland 
Homes in the period

 

 5
 

Higher is better as we look to deliver more 
homes via Welland homes

5 coming in pipeline for November/December in Long Sutton with 
and additional 10 on site at Parkside Crescent in Spalding for 
June/July next year

Indicator New Homes - Affordable Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2017/18 N/A N/A 9

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q1 2018/19 N/A N/A 7

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of affordable 
homes completed in the 
District the period 

 
 Data Only

 
Higher is better as we look to increase the 
number of affordable properties in the District 

7 properties in June become available in Pinchbeck and Holbeach

 

P
age 77



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B

South Holland Proposed Performance Indicators 2018/19

Indicator Description Status Rationale Target

% of household 
waste recycled 
or composted

% of household waste which has 
been recycled and composted 
(includes garden waste) against 
all the household waste 
collected

Keep

Links to Critical Activity 9 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the performance 
of the waste service in 
collection of recycling and 
waste

Annual 
average 
33.92%

Missed Waste 
Collection Rate

Number of missed collections 
per 100,000 people Keep

Links to Critical Activity 9 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the performance 
of the waste service 

33

Commercial 
Property 
Occupancy

Occupancy levels of the 
council's industrial units Keep

Links to Critical Activity 14 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the performance 
of the commercial property 
portfolio

90%

Staff turnover %

% of total leavers against total 
number of staff employed in 
period (includes involuntary 
leavers) 

Keep
Links to critical activity 11 and 
is monitored within risk 
reporting to members

2.5% quarterly

Housing re-let 
(void) time 
(total ave. key 
to key) All 
Tenures

Total time in days from keys in 
to keys out - including major 
works for all tenures (General 
Needs and Sheltered Housing) 
This is calculated by total 
number of days properties 
remain vacant divided by the 
number or properties vacant in 
the period

Keep

Links to critical activity 1 and 
provides assurance of the 
ongoing work to let our 
properties in an efficient and 
structured way.

28 days

Working Days 
Lost to Sickness 
per FTE

Total number of working days 
lost per Full Time Equivalent. 
This is calculated by taking the 
number of days lost to sickness 
and dividing it by the number of 
full time equivalent staff in the 
period

Keep

Links to Critical Activity 16 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the performance 
of the Council for managing 
sickness

10 Days 
Annually

Working Days 
Lost to Long 
Term Sickness 
per FTE

Number of working days lost 
per Full Time Equivalent for long 
term sickness. 
This is calculated by taking the 
number of days lost to long 
term sickness and dividing it by 
the number of full time 
equivalent staff in the period

Keep

Links to Critical Activity 16 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the performance 
of the Council for managing 
sickness

Data Only

Page 79



Working Days 
Lost to Short 
Term Sickness 
per FTE

Number of working days lost 
per Full Time Equivalent for 
short term sickness. 
This is calculated by taking the 
number of days lost to long 
term sickness and dividing it by 
the number of full time 
equivalent staff in the period

Keep

Links to Critical Activity 16 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the performance 
of the Council for managing 
sickness

Data Only

Cases Prevented 
from 
Homelessness 
per 1,000 
households

P1E Return - Prevention and 
Relieving of Homelessness 
Number of potentially homeless 
cases diverted from 
homelessness per 1,000 
households

Keep

Links to Critical Activity 4 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the performance 
of the housing service to 
support prevention of 
homelessness

Data Only

Housing Benefit 
LA Error Rate

Local Authority error in Housing 
Benefit overpayment 
Amount of benefits overpaid 
divided by benefits paid (% of 
overall expenditure)

Keep

Links to Critical Activity 11 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the Councils 
drive to provide accessible 
services

0.42%

Business Rate In 
Year Collection 
Rate

Amount of Business Rates 
collected in the year against the 
total collectable debit

Keep

Links to Critical Activity 23 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the Councils 
performance in regards to 
collection of business rates

Accumulating 
to 97% target

Council Tax In 
Year Collection 
Rate

Amount of Council Tax collected 
in the year against the total 
collectable debit

Keep

Links to Critical Activity 11 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the Councils 
performance in regards to 
council tax collection

Accumulating 
to 97% target

% of due rent 
collected on 
Welland homes 
properties

The percentage of rent 
collected from maximum 
possible rent to be collected

Keep

Links to Critical Activity 1 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the Councils 
performance in regards to 
rent collection of the 
properties let by Welland 
Homes

95%

New Homes - 
Affordable

Number of affordable homes 
completed in the District the 
period

Keep

Links to Critical Activity 6 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the number of 
affordable homes delivered in 
the district

Data Only

% of Calls 
Abandoned

% of calls that are abandoned 
(call terminated prior to 
answering), excluding those 
abandoned within 5 seconds. 
This is a combined measure 
across Customer Contact, 
Revenues and Benefits calls

Keep

Links to Critical Activity 17 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the Councils 
drive to provide accessible 
services

Data Only

Page 80



Gross income 
generated by 
EHT&C

The amount of gross income 
generated by the Environmental 
Health, Training and 
consultancy commercial trading 
arm

New

Links to Critical Activity 13 of 
new corporate plan and 
provide assurance of the 
success of EHT&C for 
generating income

£44,500 
Quarterly

Net Income 
generated by 
EHT&C (after 
expenditure)

The amount of net income 
(surplus after expenditure) 
generated by the Environmental 
Health, Training and 
consultancy commercial trading 
arm

New

Links to Critical Activity 13 of 
new corporate plan and 
provide assurance of the 
success of EHT&C for 
generating income

£29,500 
Quarterly

Time to process 
DFG 
Applications

Overall time from appointment 
to completion. New

Links to Critical Activity 3 of 
new corporate plan and 
provide assurance of the work 
being done to support keeping 
people in their homes longer

Data Only

% of complaints 
responded to 
within agreed 
timescales

the percentage of the 
complaints that were 
responded to within the period, 
that were responded to within 
the agreed timescales (15 day 
stage 1, 20 days stage 2)

New

Links to Critical Activity 11 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the performance 
of complaint responding

80%

% of FOI 
requests 
responded to 
within time limit

Of the FOI's responded to in the 
month, the percentage of ones 
that were responded to within 
the statutory 20 day timescale

New

Links to Critical Activity 17 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the delivery of 
statutory requirement to 
respond to FOIs

100%

% of time lost to 
sickness

This PI measures the 
percentage of time (in hours) 
that has been lost in the period 
due to sickness, out of a total 
amount of hours possible based 
on full attendance and no 
absences.

New

Links to Critical Activity 16 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the performance 
of the Council for managing 
sickness

Data Only

Empty 
Properties - 
Back In Use

Number of empty properties 
brought back into use through 
intervention by the council

New

Links to Critical Activity 1 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the work to bring 
empty properties back into 
use which can improve new 
homes bonus

75 Annually

Businesses 
Assisted to 
Develop or 
Grow via 
Grants4Growth

Number of existing businesses 
assisted to develop or grow 
through Economic Development 
support - Grants for Growth

New

Links to Critical Activity 19 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the work being 
done to deliver Grants for 
Growth and support 
businesses and growth in the 
district

24 Annually

Number of 
Grants Awarded 
via 
Grants4Growth

Total number of grants that are 
awarded - grants for growth New

Links to Critical Activity 20 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the work being 
done to deliver Grants for 

52 Annually

Page 81



Growth and support 
businesses and growth in the 
district

Local 
Unemployment 
Levels

NOMIS/JCP New
Links to Critical Activity 21 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
context on the district

Data Only

% of non-major 
applications 
determined 
within 8 weeks 
or agreed 
extension

This PI measures the % of non-
major applications that have 
been determined within 8 
weeks or agreed extension, this 
is in line with national 
requirements.

New

Links to Critical Activity 11 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the performance 
of the planning process in 
regards to planning 
application determination

70%

% of Major 
applications 
determined 
within 13 weeks 
or agreed 
extension

% determined within 13 weeks 
(or with agreed extension or 
PPA)

New

Links to Critical Activity 11 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the performance 
of the planning process in 
regards to planning 
application determination

60%

New Homes 
Delivered

The number of new homes 
delivered by the council 
(acquired directly, built directly 
or enabled by the authority 
from direct intervention)

New

Links to Critical Activity 6 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the performance 
of the Council in supporting 
new homes in the District in 
line with the Local Plan

408 Annual 
from Local 
Plan

New homes 
delivered by 
SHDC through 
Welland Homes

Number of new homes 
delivered via Welland Homes in 
the period

New

Links to Critical Activity 1 of 
new corporate plan to provide 
assurance of the performance 
of Welland homes

Data Only

% of Customer 
Complaints 
Upheld - Stage 1

Complaints upheld as a % of all 
stage 1 complaints closed in 
period 
This is calculated using the 
number of complaints upheld 
divided by the total number of 
complaints closed in the period

Remove

Added an alternative that 
captures the % of complaints 
responded to within timescale 
which measures performance 
in a better way

-

% of Customer 
Complaints 
Upheld - Stage 2

Complaints upheld as a % of all 
stage 2 complaints closed in 
period 
This is calculated using the 
number of complaints upheld 
divided by the total number of 
complaints closed in the period

Remove

Added an alternative that 
captures the % of complaints 
responded to within timescale 
which measures performance 
in a better way

-

Average Wait 
Time in Seconds

Average time to answer phone 
calls in seconds 
This is measured across 
customer services, revenues 
and benefits calls.

Remove

Indicator is not indicative of 
good satisfaction levels. 
Looking to understand the 
best way to measure 
satisfaction of service

-

Page 82



Waste sent to 
'Energy from 
Waste' per 
Household (kg)

Number of Kg’s of residual 
waste collected per household 
sent to Energy from Waste 
Calculated by 'residual waste 
collected' x 1000 then divided 
by number of households waste 
has been collected from

Remove

Monitored on an operational 
and portfolio level with more 
relevant waste measures  
reported  including 
introducing fly tipping 
indicators in enforcement 
suite

-

% of all planning 
applications 
determined 
within time

Number of planning 
applications determined within 
their statutory times divided by 
total number of applications 
received. 
Includes all application types 
(majors, minors, others)

Remove

Proposed introduction of 2 
indicators to separate the 
major and non major 
applications as they differ in 
timescales

-

Housing re-let 
(void) time 
(Keys In to Keys 
Back from 
Contractor) - All

Total time in days from keys in 
from tenant to works 
completed by the contractor 
and the property is ready to be 
let 

Report 
as 
exceptio
n via 
overall 
indicato
r

Proposed to keep overall 
housing void indicator and 
report by exception the areas 
which fall below expected 
standard within the context of 
the quarterly reports

-

Housing re-let 
(void) time 
(Contractor) - 
General Needs

Total time in days from keys in 
from tenant to works 
completed by the contractor 
and the property is ready to be 
let. This is only for 'general 
needs' properties 

Report 
as 
exceptio
n via 
overall 
indicato
r

Proposed to keep overall 
housing void indicator and 
report by exception the areas 
which fall below expected 
standard within the context of 
the quarterly reports

-

Housing re-let 
(void) time 
(Contractor) - 
Sheltered 
Housing

Total time in days from keys in 
from tenant to works 
completed by the contractor 
and the property is ready to be 
let. This is only for 'sheltered' 
properties 

Report 
as 
exceptio
n via 
overall 
indicato
r

Proposed to keep overall 
housing void indicator and 
report by exception the areas 
which fall below expected 
standard within the context of 
the quarterly reports

-

Housing re-let 
(void) time 
(Letting) - 
General Needs

Total time in days for properties 
to be let after the works were 
completed by the contractor. 
This is only for 'general needs' 
properties 

Report 
as 
exceptio
n via 
overall 
indicato
r

Proposed to keep overall 
housing void indicator and 
report by exception the areas 
which fall below expected 
standard within the context of 
the quarterly reports

-

Housing re-let 
(void) time 
(Letting) - 
Sheltered 
Housing

Total time in days for properties 
to be let after the works were 
completed by the contractor. 
This is only for 'sheltered' 
properties 

Report 
as 
exceptio
n via 
overall 
indicato
r

Proposed to keep overall 
housing void indicator and 
report by exception the areas 
which fall below expected 
standard within the context of 
the quarterly reports

-

Page 83



Housing re-let 
(void) time (Key 
to Key) - 
General Needs

Total time in days from keys in 
from tenant to keys out to the 
new tenant. This is only for 
'general needs' properties 

Report 
as 
exceptio
n via 
overall 
indicato
r

Proposed to keep overall 
housing void indicator and 
report by exception the areas 
which fall below expected 
standard within the context of 
the quarterly reports

-

Housing re-let 
(void) time (Key 
to Key) - 
Sheltered 
Housing

Total time in days from keys in 
from tenant to keys out to the 
new tenant. This is only for 
'general needs' properties 

Report 
as 
exceptio
n via 
overall 
indicato
r

Proposed to keep overall 
housing void indicator and 
report by exception the areas 
which fall below expected 
standard within the context of 
the quarterly reports

-

Page 84


	Agenda
	2.a) Cabinet minutes
	2.b) Priory Road Community Hub Project Sub-Committee
	8. Local Council Tax Support Scheme - 2019/20 (pre-consultation)
	9. Amendment to the Capital Programme
	Appendix 1 for Amendment to Capital Programme (Public Protection Software)

	10. Q1 Finance Report 2018-19
	Appendix 1 for Q1 Finance Report 2018-19

	11. Quarter 1 2018-19 Performance Overview Report
	Appendix 1 for Quarter 1 2018-19 Performance Overview Report
	Appendix 2 for Quarter 1 2018-19 Performance Overview Report


